

Highway IDEA Program

# The Guayule Plant a Renewable Domestic Source of Binder Materials for Flexible Pavement Mixtures

Final Report for Highway IDEA Project 143

Prepared by: David N. Richardson, Steven M. Lusher Missouri University of Science and Technology

January 2013

# TRANSPORTATION RESEARCH BOARD OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES

# **Innovations Deserving Exploratory Analysis (IDEA) Programs Managed by the Transportation Research Board**

This IDEA project was funded by the NCHRP IDEA Program.

The TRB currently manages the following three IDEA programs:

- The NCHRP IDEA Program, which focuses on advances in the design, construction, and maintenance of highway systems, is funded by American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) as part of the National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP).
- The Safety IDEA Program currently focuses on innovative approaches for improving railroad safety or performance. The program is currently funded by the Federal Railroad Administration (FRA). The program was previously jointly funded by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA) and the FRA.
- The Transit IDEA Program, which supports development and testing of innovative concepts and methods for advancing transit practice, is funded by the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) as part of the Transit Cooperative Research Program (TCRP).

Management of the three IDEA programs is coordinated to promote the development and testing of innovative concepts, methods, and technologies.

For information on the IDEA programs, check the IDEA website (www.trb.org/idea). For questions, contact the IDEA programs office by telephone at (202) 334-3310.

IDEA Programs Transportation Research Board 500 Fifth Street, NW Washington, DC 20001

# THE GUAYULE PLANT: A RENEWABLE, DOMESTIC SOURCE OF BINDER MATERIALS FOR FLEXIBLE PAVEMENT MIXTURES

IDEA Program Final Report Project NCHRP-143

Prepared for the IDEA Program Transportation Research Board National Research Council

David N. Richardson Steven M. Lusher Missouri University of Science and Technology

January 2013

#### NCHRP IDEA PROGRAM COMMITTEE

#### CHAIR

SANDRA Q. LARSON Iowa DOT

#### MEMBERS

GARY A. FREDERICK New York State DOT GEORGENE GEARY Georgia DOT JOE MAHONEY University of Washington MICHAEL MILES California DOT TOMMY NANTUNG Indiana DOT VALERIE SHUMAN Shuman Consulting Group LLC JAMES SIME Connecticut DOT (Retired) L. DAVID SUITS North American Geosynthetics Society

#### **FHWA LIAISON**

DAVID KUEHN Federal Highway Administration

#### TRB LIAISON

RICHARD CUNARD Transportation Research Board

#### **COOPERATIVE RESEARCH PROGRAM STAFF**

CRAWFORD F. JENCKS Deputy Director, Cooperative Research Programs

#### **IDEA PROGRAMS STAFF** STEPHEN R. GODWIN

Director for Studies and Special Programs JON M. WILLIAMS Program Director, IDEA and Synthesis Studies INAM JAWED Senior Program Officer DEMISHA WILLIAMS Senior Program Assistant

#### EXPERT REVIEW PANEL

GEORGENE GEARY, Georgia Department of Transportation PETER WU, Georgia Department of Transportation KATRINA CORNISH, Ohio State University JOSEPH SHROER, Missouri Department of Transportation DAVID YATES, Missouri Asphalt Pavement Association DALE WILLIAMS, Missouri Asphalt Pavement Association

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
IDEA PRODUCT	3
CONCEPT AND INNOVATION	4
INVESTIGATION	5
LABORATORY INVESTIGATION	9
Material Characterization (Task 2)	9
Raw Material Descriptions	9
RAP/RAS Binder Contents and Guayule-Based Materials Yields (Extraction and Recovery)	9
RAP/RAS Aggregates Gradations	11
Recycling Agent Classification	12
Percent Saturates (Clay-Gel Chromatography Testing)	12
Mass Change	13
Specific Gravity (Relative Density)	13
Viscosity and Viscosity Ratio	13
Flash Point	14
Gas Chromatography – Mass Spectrometry	14
Viscosity Testing	15
Binder-Blending Mixture Experiment	17
Results of the LF vs. PG64-22 and RR vs. Cyclogen L Comparisons	21
Response Surface Models (RSMs): Generation and Optimization	24
Flexible Pavement Mixture (FPM) Design, Production, and Testing (Task 3)	26
FPM Design	26
Hamburg Wheel-Track Testing	30
Tensile Strength Ratio (TSR) Testing	32
Low-Temperature Flexural Creep Stiffness Testing	33
PLANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION	36
CONCLUSIONS	36
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	38
REFERENCES	39

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Due to the rising price of crude oil, flexible pavement costs have increased significantly. This price pressure has resulted in the increased use of reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) and/or reclaimed asphalt roofing shingles (RAS) because of the binder (asphalt cement) they contain. This has increased demand for recycling (rejuvenating) agents which return the RAP/RAS binders to their original state by 1) restoring maltenes (petroleum oils and resins) that have been depleted due to age-hardening/oxidation, and 2) reducing their viscosity.

The project concept was to design a flexible pavement mixture (FPM) produced with little-to-no virgin petroleumbased binder which implied the use of high percentages of RAP and/or RAS, and a bio-based virgin binder. The potential impacts of a renewable (bio-based), domestic source of FPM binder on highway construction could be lower costs and, perhaps more importantly, a decreased dependence on foreign oil.

The guayule (pronounced 'why-YOU-lee') plant is a perennial that grows in arid and semi-arid regions (e.g. the southwestern U.S.) and is a source of natural rubber. Three basic products can be obtained from the guayule plant: 1) rubber in latex or bulk (dried latex) form, 2) bagasse (post-rubber-extraction fibrous residue), and 3) resin. Guayule is currently being cultivated and processed primarily for the manufacture of hypo-allergenic latex used in medical products (e.g. gloves and catheters), but it has a long history including the use of the bulk rubber during World War II.

To validate the project concept, the use of guayule-based material in combination with high percentages of RAP and/or RAS was investigated. Two of the many guayule-based materials produced during this project became the focus of the work: 1) an acetone-extracted resin that can be an undesirable residuum in the bulk rubber but useful for FPM, and 2) a hexane-extract from the waste-stream leaves and attached stems. Comparisons were made of these two materials to two petroleum-based binders with similar viscosity-temperature relationships: 1) the acetone-extracted rubber resin (RR) was compared to a commercially-available recycling agent, Cyclogen® L (CycL), and 2) the hexane-extract from the leaf/stems (LF) was compared to a performance-graded (PG) 52-28 binder often utilized for high-RAP/RAS FPMs where the specified binder grade is stiffer than a PG52-28.

Binder-blending mixture experiments, useful for comparative analyses and necessary for FPM design, required creating many different blends of the RAP/RAS binders with the RR and LF, recreating those same blends but substituting the RR and LF with the appropriate petroleum-based binders, testing each blend, then generating response surface models (RSMs) using those test results. Binder-blending experiment conclusions are as follows:

- The RR-RAP/RAS blends did perform the same as proportionally-identical CycL-RAP/RAS blends in terms of high-temperature stiffness (as measured by the high critical temperature, T<sub>c</sub>H), but did not perform exactly the same in terms of cold-temperature cracking resistance (as measured by the low critical temperature, T<sub>c</sub>L). In terms more familiar to the FPM designer, the difference between the absolute temperature spread (T<sub>c</sub>H T<sub>c</sub>L) for the RR-RAP/RAS blends relative to proportionally-identical CycL-RAP/RAS blends was small, but statistically different.
- The absolute temperature spreads  $(T_cH T_cL)$  for the LF-RAP/RAS blends were, to a large degree, significantly different than the proportionally-identical PG52-28-RAP/RAS blends. This finding turned the remaining investigative effort solely onto the RR.
- The RR and LF suffer significant mass loss upon short-term aging at 163°C. However, when used as a recycling agent, the RR or LF would be considerably diluted by the RAP/RAS binder. Additionally, the RR can auto-oxidize at room

temperature if exposed to the air for prolonged periods of time, and may dissolve if exposed to hot water for prolonged periods of time even if it is blended with petroleum-based binder.

FPM design began by using the RSMs to generate a RR-RAP/RAS blend that would meet specifications for a PG64-22 binder. Using an optimization procedure in the experimental mixture design software, a blend of 42.4% RAP1 binder, 17.8% RAP2 binder, 15.0% RAS binder, and 24.8% RR (note: no virgin petroleum-based binder) was produced that, through verification testing, met all specifications for a PG64-22 binder, except mass change. The maximum allowable mass change for a PG binder is  $\pm 1.0\%$  but the blend experienced a mass loss of 3.1%.

Using this binder blend, a RR-based FPM was designed, produced, and tested that 1) met the gradation specification for a Missouri Department of Transportation (MoDOT) moderate-quality FPM, but 2) nearly met all of the volumetric requirements. This FPM utilized 53% reclaimed RAP/RAS aggregate and, therefore, 47% virgin aggregate. More importantly, and in relation to the project concept, only 0.23% of the total FPM mass (or 5.62% of total binder mass) was virgin PG64-22 binder. The rest of the binder was RAP/RAS binder and RR. A CycL-based FPM using the same design proportions was also produced and tested for comparative analyses. Conclusions from the FPM testing are as follows:

- Standard Hamburg Wheel-Track testing, which specifies full submersion of the specimens in 50°C water during the approximately 7 hours of rut testing, was performed. The results indicated that the RR-based FPM performed as well as the CycL-based FPM in regard to rutting and stripping (moisture damage) resistance.
- Standard Tensile Strength Ratio (TSR) testing, which specifies a 24 hour full submersion of the specimens in 60°C water, was performed. The results of this moisture-susceptibility test, however, indicated that the RR-based FPM may be more prone to stripping than the CycL-based FPM.
- A (currently) non-standard, but promising test protocol for determining low-temperature, FPM flexural creep stiffness
  was performed on the RR- and CycL-based FPMs. At -12°C, statistical analyses showed that the creep stiffness of the
  RR-based FPM was not significantly different than the CycL-based FPM. However, the m-value of the RR-based FPM
  was statistically different (lower) than the CycL-based FPM m-value which indicates a somewhat higher coldtemperature cracking potential for the RR-based FPM relative to the CycL-based FPM. The RR-based FPM met and
  nearly met recommended limits for creep stiffness and m-value, respectively.

Based on the test results, the RR produced in this study could, in a practical sense, be used as a recycling agent. FPMproduction and paving industry representatives have shown interest in the results of this study and the future viability of guayule-based materials. The Yulex® Corporation, the only U.S. company currently cultivating and processing the guayule plant for commercial purposes, recently indicated that they are still in the economic modeling phase for resins and are planning to add more processing facilities in the near future. Bridgestone and Cooper Tire are also planning to begin research into and production of guayule-based products.

So, although the economic viability of guayule products for FPM applications is difficult to determine at this point, the potential availability of guayule in the U.S. as a feedstock is substantial; there are about 124 million acres of land in the U.S., mostly in the southwest, environmentally suited for guayule agricultural practices. This project was a first step and it verified that the guayule shrub, a perennial industrial plant, holds great potential as a renewable, domestic source of FPM binder additives such as resins, oils, and polymers.

#### **IDEA PRODUCT**

Due to the rising price of crude oil, flexible pavement costs have increased significantly. This price pressure has resulted in the increased use of reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) and/or reclaimed asphalt roofing shingles (RAS) because of the binder they contain. This has increased demand for recycling (rejuvenating) agents which return the RAP/RAS binders to their original state by 1) restoring maltenes (petroleum oils and resins) that have been depleted due to agehardening/oxidation, and 2) reducing their viscosity. Note that the term "recycling agent" has been used interchangeably with terms such as rejuvenator, softening agent, aromatic oil, and others. However, Roberts et. al make the distinction that a softening agent lowers the viscosity of the aged binder while a rejuvenatorrestores the aged binder's viscous properties as well as the chemical constituency (1). Note that the term "recycling agent" will be used in this report to identify a material that "rejuvenates" the aged binder.

The project concept was to design a flexible pavement mixture (FPM) produced with little-to-no virgin petroleumbased binder (asphalt cement) which implied using high percentages of RAP and/or RAS, and a bio-based virgin binder. Note that the term "flexible pavement mixture" will be used throughout this report instead of "asphalt pavement mixture" in an effort to begin the terminology transition due to the inevitable depletion of crude oil.

The guayule (pronounced 'why-YOU-lee') plant is a perennial that grows in arid and semi-arid regions (e.g. the southwestern U.S.) and is a source of natural rubber. Three basic products can be obtained from the guayule plant: 1) rubber in latex or bulk (dried latex) form, 2) bagasse (post-rubber-extraction fibrous residue), and 3) resin. The guayule plant is currently being cultivated and processed primarily for the manufacture of hypo-allergenic latex used in medical products such as gloves and catheters, but it has a long history including the use of the guayule rubber during the World War II rubber shortage.



FIGURE 1: Arizona Guayule Fields (permission from Yulex® Corp.)

The potential impact of a renewable (bio-based), domestic source of FPM binder on highway construction could be lower costs. Perhaps more importantly, national security could be enhanced by decreasing the dependence on foreign oil.

In order to validate the project concept, the use of guayule-based material in combination with high percentages of RAP and/or RAS was investigated. Numerous extraction/recovery procedures were developed and performed using different guayule feedstocks and solvents. For each feedstock/solvent combination, the recovered product was evaluated through testing. Equipment was developed, and some additional equipment purchases were made that exceeded the expectations enumerated in the project proposal.

Two of the many guayule-based materials produced during this project became the focus of the work: 1) an acetoneextracted resin that can be an undesirable residuum in the bulk rubber but useful for FPM, and 2) a hexane-extract from the leaves and attached stems (currently removed before the commercial, water-based, rubber-extraction process, and considered a waste product). Comparisons were made of the two guayule-based materials to two petroleum-based binders (currently used in FPMs) with similar viscosity-temperature relationships: 1) the acetone-extracted rubber resin (RR) was compared to a commercially-available recycling agent, Cyclogen® L (CycL), and 2) the hexane-extract from the leaf/stems (LF) was compared to a performance-graded (PG) 52-28 binder often utilized for high-RAP/RAS FPMs where the specified binder grade is stiffer than a PG52-28.

## **CONCEPT AND INNOVATION**

The project concept was to design a FPM produced with little-to-no virgin petroleum-based binder requiring the use of 1) high percentages of RAP and/or RAS, and 2) some type of non-petroleum based recycling agent. Both of the concept requirements have driven this research. Although RAP usage in paving applications became popular during the 1970s oil embargo, *high*-RAP FPM design has only recently become more common due to increasing crude oil and aggregate costs, and environmental concerns. However, the design procedure is still evolving (*3*, *4*, *5*). RAS usage also began in the 1970s and is on the rise with a large increase in the utilization of tear-off roofing shingles (*6*). The state of the art in FPM design using RAS, however, is in its relative infancy (*7*).

Therefore, FPM design using high percentages of RAP and/or RAS is a challenge unto itself and is leading to innovation on its own. For example, new designs and construction of asphalt mixing facilities/equipment are occurring regularly that are marketed for the purpose of utilizing RAP percentages as high as 100% (*8, 9, 10*). Currently, the upper limit for RAP usage at Missouri FPM mixing facilities is about 50% with a more practical upper limit of 40%.

Although the use of the guayule plant as a potential source of binder materials for FPM is a unique concept, there are other instances of the investigation/use of other renewable and/or waste bio-materials as FPM binder. For example, researchers at Iowa State University are investigating various biomass materials as sources of FPM binder (11), research engineers for a Leicester county, United Kingdom company (Aggregate Industries) are looking to use "chip" fat (i.e. waste vegetable oil) as a binder (12), and a French road construction company, Colas SA, has patented a binder made from sunflower oil called Végécol (13). Shell Bitumen has entered the fray with a product called Floraphalte (14). Earlier work on bio-based asphalt additives occurred in India where resin from the Anacardium Occidentale tree was processed to be used as a recycling agent (15). Bitu Tech RAP is a product recently available from Engineered Additives, LLC and is marketed as a recycling agent (16). EcoPave in Australia has also developed bio-based binders for paving purposes (17). Recently marketed products are based on crude tall oil, a paper manufacturing co-product (e.g. Hydrogreen®).

The primary innovation in this research is the development and use of guayule- or bio-based materials with the following attributes:

- They are obtained from a perennial plant specifically cultivated for industrial uses, not food production.
- Their source is renewable and of a USA domestic origin.

- One of the bio-based materials, a hexane-extract (LF), is derived from material that is currently waste (i.e. the leaves and attached stems are removed prior to commercial latex production from the remaining woody parts of the plant) and may serve to enhance other FPM performance parameters due to the rubber content of the LF.
- The second bio-based material, the rubber resin (RR), is a co-product removed by extraction from a secondary product (i.e. the bulk rubber) in order to improve said product. According to the Yulex Corporation, the residual, amber-colored resin in the bulk rubber is undesirable in certain applications (*18*).
- The solvent extraction methods used to produce this study's bio-based recycling agents are relatively simple in that only one hydrocarbon solvent per material is required which would minimize production costs. Alternatively, supercritical fluid extraction, although more complex, would make hydrocarbon solvents unnecessary and decrease the environmental impact of processing.
- They blend well with petroleum-based binders at typical (low to moderate) dosages.
- They perform as intended by 1) reducing the viscosity of the hardened RAP/RAS binder and 2) replenishing depleted polar and aromatic compounds.

What makes the guayule plant a unique source for bio-based FPM additives is the presence of high-quality natural rubber. Although the focus of this work has been on guayule-based materials as a recycling agent, it is important to stress the potential use of the natural rubber as a bio-polymer modifier to increase the high-temperature performance of FPMs.

## INVESTIGATION

The project work was divided into three (3) tasks:

# Task 1: Procurement of raw materials and equipment, and development of equipment, laboratory infrastructure, and test protocols.

Raw materials obtained for the project include:

- RAP1: reclaimed asphalt pavement obtained from Interstate 44 in Rolla, Missouri
- RAP2: reclaimed asphalt pavement obtained from a city street in Washington, Missouri
- RAS: processed tear-off roofing shingles obtained from local hot mix asphalt producer
- United States Department of Agriculture (USDA)-supplied, chipped, whole-shrub guayule plant
- Yulex Corporation-supplied pelletized whole-shrub guayule plant
- Yulex Corporation-supplied post-rubber-extraction (PRE) bagasse (and later in the project, the rubber itself)
- Yulex Corporaton-supplied waste-stream guayule leaves and attached stems
- Six different grades of polymer-modified and non-modified performance-graded (PG) binders
- Two different commercially-available, petroleum-based recycling agents

Significant equipment/supply items purchased are as follows:

- Bohlin Gemini 150 Dynamic Shear Rheometer (DSR) and Cannon Instruments temperature probe
- Applied Testing Systems Bending Beam Rheometer (BBR) and 10 BBR beam molds

- Cox and Sons Rolling Thin Film Oven (RTFO), along with standard and large-lipped RTFO bottles
- Prentex Pressure Aging Vessel and bottled, compressed breathable air
- 20 liter Oregon Environmental Systems Solvent Recovery Device for large-scale primary distillations
- Clay-Gel Chromatography glassware, clay, and silica gel
- Large centrifuge for solvent extraction/recovery procedures
- Significant quantities of acetone, trichloroethylene, hexane, and lesser quantities of pentane, toluene, ethanol, and methanol

• Bottled, compressed carbon dioxide and nitrogen for gas purges during material extraction/recovery procedures Equipment, laboratory infrastructure, and test protocol development included:

- Installation of an air compressor dedicated to the DSR, BBR, and RTFO
- Fabrication/installation of a fume hood in an isolated room with an independent air-exhaust system: the solvent recovery device was installed under the fume hood, and the room served as an area to work with and store the solvents
- Installation of compressed air lines and electrical power wiring/conduit for all new equipment
- Fabrication of a required clean and dry air filtering system for the RTFO
- Development of large-scale (20 liters of solvent) extraction and recovery procedures for RAP/RAS binders and guayule-based materials

# Task 2: Individual test material characterization and binder-blending mixture experiments Task 3: Flexible pavement mixture (FPM) design, production, and testing.

The impetus to this research began in 2004 with the viewing of a History Channel *Modern Marvels* television program about the history of rubber. The guayule plant was featured in this program and interest was piqued due to the increasing use of rubberized asphalt in the paving industry. After making several inquiries into the status of the guayule rubber industry, contact was established with Dr. Francis Nakayama, a United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) research chemist. Dr. Nakayama arranged to provide samples of guayule rubber that had been produced approximately 20 years earlier. The package arrived and contained a large piece of black bulk rubber and a one gallon can labeled, "derubberized guayule resin." The resin was a very dark green, almost black, fluid with the consistency of honey at room temperature, and it had a piney, pleasant odor. At that time it seemed obvious that the resin had promise as a softening agent in hardened petroleum-based binder. Preliminary testing using the resin in combination with petroleum-based binder led to the submittal of a proposal to the NCHRP-IDEA program which resulted in a research grant.

Originally, the research plan was to use the ~20 year old, USDA-supplied, de-rubberized guayule resin. However, the decision was made to extract and recover guayule-based material from freshly harvested, whole-shrub guayule plants because questions arose during attempts to perform a clay-gel chromatography procedure (19) on the resin as to whether it contained mineral oil and/or an antioxidant, Santoflex 134. Extensive communication with researchers familiar with the history of the USDA resin, and analysis of the pertinent literature (20, 21, 22) made it clear that further use of the USDA-supplied guayule resin was unwise. This turn of events proved to be a major unforeseen setback to the research and forced a significant increase in the scope of the project.

The decision to extract and recover guayule-based material in the laboratory was a major turning-point in the research; it drastically increased the proposed work plan. Instead of focusing on the materials characterization and binder-blending mixture experiments (to be discussed later), followed by FPM design, production, and testing, the majority of the research time was dedicated to obtaining a guayule-based material with the properties required for use as a recycling agent. Only then could the initially-planned Tasks 2 and 3 be started.

Another significant setback occurred because the first laboratory-obtained resins (using acetone-only extraction of various guayule plant feedstocks) were too stiff, making them ill-suited as a recycling agent. These resins, however, may hold promise as stiffening agents to improve the high-temperature performance of FPMs.

The next step was to investigate different solvents either alone or in combination with other solvents. Liquid-liquid extraction using pentane and aqueous methanol, and cold-filtered ethanol partitioning were also investigated. Although both of these procedures produced guayule-based materials with viscous properties sufficient for use as a recycling agent, neither yielded amounts considered sufficient to make it economical. In addition, these methods were much more complex to perform, relatively speaking, than single solvent extractions.

Despite the above setbacks, however, much was learned. It has been said that much of research is determining what does not work. This certainly was the case for this portion of the study.

Table 1 shows the results of the overall investigation into obtaining a guayule-based material with the properties required for use as a recycling agent, and reveals the reasons why two (2) were selected and nine (9) were rejected.

Plant or Plant Extract Precursor Materials	Solvent	Results
Whole-Shrub (WS)	Acetone	The WS resin is much stiffer and more temperature susceptible than a PG52-28 binder.
PRE Bagasse (PRE)	Acetone	The PRE resin is very stiff. Viscosity-temperature relationship similar to RAP binders.
Whole-Shrub (WS)	Pentane	Visual inspection only. The extract demonstrates moderate ductility, high elasticity. No follow-up work: pentane hazard-risk and high cost.
PRE Bagasse (PRE)	Pentane	Visual inspection only. The extract demonstrates moderate ductility and elasticity. No follow-up work: pentane hazard-risk and high cost.
PRE Bagasse (PRE)	Toluene	The resin is similar to the acetone-extracted PRE resin in terms of viscosity but is slightly less temperature susceptible.
Waste-Stream Leaf/Stem	Hexane	The extract (LF) has viscosity similar to a PG52-28 but is significantly less temperature susceptible. Simple production method and moderate yield. Demonstrates high ductility, moderate elasticity upon visual inspection. Contains some rubber and is tacky.
PRE Bagasse (PRE)	Hexane	The extract has a viscosity-temperature relationship similar to the LF material with higher viscosity; i.e. too stiff.
Waste-Stream Leaf/Stem	Acetone	Visual inspection only. Visual observation was similar to acetone- extracted WS resin. Too glassy (brittle) at room temperature.
Acetone-extracted PRE Bagasse Resin	Pentane-partition	The extract has good viscous properties comparable to Cyclogen L. No follow-up work: pentane hazard-risk and high cost, and a very complex production method. Very small yield.
Hexane-extracted LF	Ethanol-partition	The extract is less viscous than a PG46-28 binder but more viscous than Cyclogen L, and more temperature susceptible. Production less complex than pentane-partitioning. Small yield
Bulk Rubber (dried latex)	Acetone	The rubber resin (RR) has viscosity similar to Cyclogen L but is slightly less temperature-susceptible. Relatively simple production method and high yield.

TABLE 1: Summary Table of Guayule-Based Material Generation Investigations

The plant or plant-extract precursor materials investigated were three different plant feedstocks, two guayule-based materials resulting from the solvent extraction of one of the plant feedstocks, and the raw bulk rubber. The plant feedstocks were USDA-supplied chipped whole-shrub (WS), post-rubber-extraction (PRE) bagasse (fibrous residue leftover after 90-95% of the high molecular weight rubber was removed), and waste-stream leaf and attached stems, both of which were supplied by the Yulex Corporation. The whole-shrub and leaf/stem feedstocks were pulverized prior to solvent extraction using a horizontal shaft impactor. The PRE bagasse was already in a finely-macerated state.

Table 1 also refers to Cyclogen L® which is a petroleum-based aromatic oil used as a recycling agent. The PG52-28 and PG46-28 are softer performance graded (PG) petroleum-based binders.

The decision was made to focus on the LF material, the hexane-extract from the waste-stream leaves and attached stems (bolded and italicized in Table 1). The extraction procedure was simple, the yield averaged 4.4% by weight of the oven-dry (60°C) waste-stream leaf/stem, and the product satisfied the practical (but not all technical) requirements for a recycling agent. The LF is dark-green in color, semi-solid at room temperature, and has a piney, pleasant odor. However, the LF also contains some natural rubber which increases the tackiness of any material in which it is present.

Soon after beginning testing using the LF material, the Yulex Corporation suggested acetone-extraction on the natural bulk rubber they produce as a secondary product by drying the latex. The rubber has residual, amber-colored resin in it that 1) is undesirable for producing a near-white rubber that enables the creation of various grades of rubber, and 2) can be extracted using acetone. Yulex Corporation supplied about 50 pounds of the rubber and a method was devised to extract the resin by cutting the rubber into approximately 2 inch cubes, freezing the cubes in liquid nitrogen, pulverizing the frozen cubes, soaking the flaked rubber in acetone for an extended period of time, then de-solventizing the acetone-resin solution in a two-step distillation process. The acetone-extracted rubber resin (RR) is amber in color, flows at room temperature, and has a slightly pungent, but not unpleasant odor (bolded and italicized in Table 1). The acetone-extraction process was relatively simple and the yield averaged about 13% by weight of the rubber. The RR, too, satisfied the practical (but not all technical) requirements for a recycling agent.

Simultaneous to generating a desirable guayule-based material for use as a recycling agent, Task 2 was initiated: statistically-based, binder-blending mixture experiments were set up that 1) would allow for comparative analysis between a guayule-based material and a petroleum-based recycling agent, and 2) would be necessary for FPM design. Using the software program DesignExpert®, an optimal mixture experimental design was created that generated blend proportions for four components: two RAPs, one RAS, and one virgin binder, which is a generalized term here for any one of the guayule-based materials or petroleum-based binders to be utilized as recycling agents. The experiment required physically creating many different blends of the RAP/RAS binders with the guayule-based materials, recreating those blends by substituting the guayule-based materials with the appropriate petroleum-based binders, testing each blend, and then generating response surface models (RSMs) using those test results. The RSMs were then used to determine several alternative sets of proportions for optimizing a select binder property. These optimal blend proportions were then used for FPM design.

Comparisons of the two guayule-based materials to two petroleum-based binders of similar viscosity were made: 1) RR was compared to Cyclogen L (CycL), and 2) the LF was compared to a PG52-28 binder, a soft binder often used for high-RAP/RAS FPMs where the contract-specified, mixture binder grade is stiffer than a PG52-28.

## LABORATORY INVESTIGATION

Only test methods and the associated final results that are relevant to the research objective are presented in this section. There was testing performed over the course of the investigation that was necessary in order to answer questions that arose but that do not require presentation. Most of the unreported results from this testing pertain to properties of the solvent-extracted-materials rejected as potential recycling agents. Those properties include viscosity, mass change during shear and/or at variable temperatures, and volatiles composition.

#### Material Characterization (Task 2)

Material characterization required testing that identified individual material properties required for classification purposes or that will be used for FPM design purposes. Those test methods and results are presented in this section.

#### Raw Material Descriptions

RAP1 came from a Missouri Department of Transportation (MoDOT) project on Interstate 44 in Phelps County, Missouri. RAP2 came from a city-street project in the city of Washington, Missouri.

The RAPs were further processed in the laboratory by first shaking them across a  $\frac{3}{4}$  inch screen, running the  $+\frac{3}{4}$  inch material through a horizontal-shaft impactor, then running the pulverized RAP through the  $\frac{3}{4}$  inch screen again such that the sample used for obtaining test specimens contained only RAP that had passed through the  $\frac{3}{4}$  inch screen.

The RAS was supplied by a local asphalt contractor and had already been processed such that it would pass the  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch screen. However, MoDOT's specification for RAS is that it must pass the  $\frac{3}{8}$  inch screen. Therefore, the RAS was processed in the laboratory in the same manner as the RAP such that the sample used for obtaining test specimens contained only RAS that had passed through the  $\frac{3}{8}$  inch screen.

Virgin aggregate used in the FPMs was a dolomite from the Gasconade formation, obtained from a local asphalt producer. Three different size fractions were obtained: <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> inch clean, <sup>3</sup>/<sub>8</sub> inch clean, and manufactured sand.

The origins and basic methodology for processing of the precursor materials for the LF and RR materials were discussed in the previous section.

#### RAP/RAS Binder Contents and Guayule-Based Materials Yields (Extraction and Recovery)

Procedures ultimately used for solvent-based extraction and recovery procedures for the RAP/RAS binders, and the RR and LF materials were based on guidance given in standard test methods and in the literature (23, 24, 25, 26, 27). However, due to the amount of material needed to perform the required testing, certain aspects and/or portions of the standard test procedures were combined to develop the procedures utilized. The evolutionary development of the

procedures that were eventually used account for a very large portion of the time dedicated to this project. Detailed extraction/recovery procedures are beyond the scope of this report. Recovery (yield) Rresults are given in Table 2.

Material	Batch ID	Amount Decouvered (cmr)	Content or	Mean	St. Dev.
	DD 1	Recovered (gm)	<b>Y leid</b> (%)	(%)	(%)
		220.0	11.5		
	KK-2	247.0	12.2	11.9	0.30
A actor o Entropted Coursel	<u> </u>	237.0	11.8		
Acetone-Extracted Guayule	KK-4	248.2	12.0		
Rubber Resin (RR)	KK-5	301.3	14.6		
	KK-6	410.5	13.9	14.0	0.45
	RR-7	312.5	14.0		
	RR-8	339.8	13.5		
	LF-1	215.9	4.5		
Hexane-Extract from Waste	LF-2	210.4	4.4		
Stream Guayule Leaves and	LF-3	219.4	4.6	4.5	0.09
Attached Stems (LF)	LF-4	211.2	4.4		
	LF-5	212.0	4.4		
	RAP1-1	478.6	4.8		
	RAP1-2	482.0	4.8	18	0.07
	RAP1-3	492.3	4.9	4.0	0.07
RAP1 Binder	RAP1-4	492.5	4.9		
(State Hwy Material: -3/4")	RAP1-5	512.1	4.8		
	RAP1-6	488.6	4.7	17	0.14
	RAP1-7	492.4	4.7	4./	0.14
	RAP1-8	462.1	4.5		
	RAP2-1	550.3	5.5		
	RAP2-2	547.1	5.5	5.4	0.02
	RAP2-3	543.3	5.4	5.4	0.03
RAP2 Binder	RAP2-4	541.7	5.4		
(Municipal Street Material: -3/4")	RAP2-5	558.8	5.5		
	RAP2-6	569.1	5.5		0.01
	RAP2-7	562.2	5.4	5.5	0.01
	RAP2-8	559.1	5.5		
	RAS-1	465.1	22.8		
	RAS-2	22.9	22.0	0.00	
KAS Binder $(-3/8'')$	RAS-3	459.8	22.7	22.8	0.08
	RAS-4	459.8	22.8		

TABLE 2: Solvent-Based Extraction/Recovery Yield Results

NOTE: The binder contents of the RAPs and RAS, and the yields of the LF material are based on the weight of the material after drying/warming overnight at 60°C. Yields of the RR material are based on the weight of the air-dry rubber subjected to acetone-extraction. Batches 1 - 4 (and LF batches 1 - 5) were extracted much earlier than batches 5 - 8.

Binder contents (or more correctly, percent losses) of the RAP/RAS were also determined using a standard solventextraction method, AASHTO T 164 (23), and the binder ignition oven based on AASHTO test method T 308 (28). Results are given in Table 3.

Material	RAP1				RAP2		RAS			
Test/Property	T 164	T 308	Difference	T 164	T 308	Difference	T 164	T 308	Difference	
Trial #1	4.92	7.19	2.27	5.24	6.14	0.90	23.20	26.45	3.25	
Trial #2	5.06	6.99	1.93	5.08	6.33	1.25	22.01	26.53	4.52	
Mean	4.99	7.09	2.10	5.16	6.24	1.08	22.61	26.49	3.89	
Std. Dev.	0.099	0.141	0.240	0.113	0.134	0.247	0.841	0.057	0.898	

TABLE 3: T 164 and T 308 Binder Contents

The RAP1 and RAS binder content results in Table 2 relative to the T 164 results in Table 3 compare fairly well. However, the results for RAP2 in Table 2 (determined using the project-developed extraction/recovery methods) ran somewhat higher than those in Table 3.

The differences between T 308 and T 164 shown in Table 3 are large. The differences are primarily due to a combination of factors: aggregate mass change (a loss in most cases; probably the largest contributor to the differences), incomplete binder extraction in T 164 (aggregates absorb binder to differing degrees and the extent of removal of said binder using a solvent is variable), and in the case of the RAS, the burning of small amounts of paper, plastic, and wood included in the reclaimed shingles that show up as a mass loss in T 308. Note that the difference for RAP2 is considerably smaller than RAP1 and may be due to 1) the fact that RAP2 contains limestone and some trap rock (hard, low absorption aggregate used in many street resurfacing projects in Missouri), and/or 2) the RAP1 aggregate is dolomite, a common Missouri mineral that can cause excessive, and increasing mass loss with increasing temperature during ignition oven testing.

The temperature for binder ignition oven testing of the reclaimed materials should be the same as that used during binder ignition testing of the production FPM (29). However, because no FPM production had occurred prior to generating the T 308 data in Table 3, the binder ignition testing of the RAPs and RAS was performed at 538°C, the default temperature specified in T 308.

#### RAP/RAS Aggregates Gradations

Gradation analyses (*30, 31*) were performed on the recovered RAP and RAS aggregates from both the AASHTO T 308 and AASHTO T 164 procedures used to develop the results in Table 3. Gradation, or particle size distribution, is necessary for FPM design. The gradation results are given in Table 4.

RAS Material RAP1 RAP2 Aggregate Recovery Method Ignition Ignition Solvent Solvent Solvent Ignition % Pass % Pass % Pass Sieve Size % Pass % Pass % Pass ¾ in. (19.0mm) ½ in. (12.5mm) 3/8 in. (9.5mm) #4 (4.75mm) #8 (2.36mm) #16 (1.18mm) #30 (600µm) #50 (300µm) #100 (150µm) #200 (75µm) 

TABLE 4: Gradation Results for Recovered RAP/RAS Aggregates

The difference between the solvent- and ignition-recovered-aggregate gradations in Table 4 is small, but there is some evidence that the RAP1 dolomite breaks down more than the RAP2 and RAS aggregates during ignition testing. For FPM design, the gradations of the solvent-recovered RAP/RAS aggregates from the Table 2 extractions were assumed to be the same as the average of the solvent- and ignition-recovered-aggregate gradations in Table 4..Although not required for FPM design, the RAS fiber content was determined to be approximately 0.5% by weight of the RAS as a consequence of the washed sieve analysis of the recovered RAS aggregates.

#### **Recycling Agent Classification**

To properly perform FPM design that includes reclaimed binders, standard practice calls for classification of materials intended to be used as recycling agents. To this end, a standard material specification, AASHTO R 14 (*32*), is being referenced. The specification calls for several properties to be determined: viscosity, flash point, viscosity ratio (based on thin film oven (TFO) or rolling thin film oven (RTFO) residue viscosity relative to the original viscosity), weight (mass) change, specific gravity (relative density), and percent saturates. Table 5 summarizes all test results for recycling agent classification. Discussion of individual property testing follows Table 5.

#### TABLE 5: Recycling Agent (RA) Classification Results

Property or Parameter	LF	PG52-28	RR	CycL
RTFO viscosity @ 60°C (centipoise)	21450	160000	618	624
Original viscosity @ 60°C (centipoise)	36750	62125	218	438
Viscosity ratio (RTFO/original): maximum = 3	0.6	2.6	2.8	1.4
AASHTO R 14 RA Classification	RA 250↔500	NA (>RA 500)	RA 5	RA 5
Flash Point (°C): minimum = 218°C	~200	Not Determined*	213**	254***
Saturates (weight %): maximum = 25%	11.26***	Not Determined*	1.08***	16.38**
Weight (mass) change (%): maximum = $\pm 4\%$ for	-8.475	-0.066	-11.065	-1.817
RA1 and RA5 RAs, $\pm 3\%$ for all others				
Specific gravity (to be reported: no spec_limits)	1 003	1 012	1.015	1 004

NA = Not applicable; \*Details in following discussions; \*\*Average based on two replicate tests; \*\*\*Based on testing only one specimen

#### Percent Saturates (Clay-Gel Chromatography Testing)

According to AASHTO R 14, saturates are limited to a maximum of 25% (or 30% if all other specified criteria are met) and are to be determined using the clay-gel chromatography test method ASTM D 2007 (*19*). From this standardized test, one can determine the quantity of four different hydrocarbon types and structural groups in the recycling agent: saturates, aromatics, polar compounds (or polar aromatics), and asphaltenes (n-pentane insolubles). The relative proportions of these four groups affect the properties of the petroleum-based binder, and presumably, any blend of a guayule-based material and petroleum-based binder.

Clay-gel chromatography was performed on the RR, LF, and the Cyclogen L. Although the PG52-28 binder was used as a recycling agent in this study, clay-gel chromatography testing was not deemed necessary because the PG52-28 does not technically fall within the purview of R 14.

As shown in Table 5, all materials tested for percent saturates meet the criteria specified in AASHTO R 14 in that they are below 25%. Although not shown in Table 5, the LF and RR have a much higher polar compound content and considerably smaller aromatic compound content than the Cyclogen L. In a petroleum-based binder, age-hardening (simply stated) is a process by which the polar and aromatic compounds, over time, oxidize and become asphaltenes which are very large, complex molecules (i.e. microscopic solids) that serve as a bodying agent in the binder. Therefore, blends containing the LF or RR (both with higher polar compound contents than Cyclogen L) could possibly have an increased rate of age-hardening relative to blends with Cyclogen L. Saturates (also known as paraffins) serve as non-solvents or a gelling agent in a colloidal system in which the asphaltenes are dispersed or peptized by the polar compounds (also known as nitrogen bases), and the aromatics (also known as first and second acidaffins) serve as a solvent for the dispersed asphaltenes (*33, 34*).

#### Mass Change

Mass change testing of the LF, RR, Cyclogen L, and PG52-28 was conducted using the rolling thin film oven (RTFO) method AASHTO T 240 (*35*). The results are presented in Table 5.

The mass change (loss in this case) for the RR and LF materials exceeds the maximum allowable (4%) for any class of recycling agent (RA) based on AASHTO R 14 specifications. The PG52-28 and Cyclogen L met the specification. However, it should be noted that AASHTO R 14, as well as most every specification referenced for this research, pertains to petroleum-based binders, not necessarily a bio-based alternative. Mass change testing occurs at  $163\pm1^{\circ}$ C. Many, if not most, of the chemical compounds in the guayule-based materials are terpenes (compounds with isoprene, C<sub>5</sub>H<sub>8</sub>, as the basic building block) and terpenoid alcohols. Gas chromatography – mass spectrometry test results (presented later) show some of the predominant compounds present in the RR and LF materials. Most of these compounds are volatile and, even though they may have high boiling points in their pure form (terpenes especially), they have low flash points.

#### Specific Gravity (Relative Density)

AASHTO T 228 (36) was followed in performing specific gravity tests on the PG52-28, Cyclogen L, RR, and LF materials. Specific gravity was determined at 25°C. The results are presented in Table 5.

#### Viscosity and Viscosity Ratio

A Brookfield rotational viscometer was used to determine viscosity-temperature relationships per AASHTO T 316 (*37*). Note that this is a deviation from specifications in AASHTO R 14 which calls for viscosity testing at 60°C using AASHTO T 201 or T 202 and then reporting the results in the "stoke" unit of viscosity. The stoke is equal to the poise (viscosity units determined using T 316) divided by the density (specific gravity) of the liquid. However, because the density or specific gravity of the petroleum-based binders and guayule-based materials are very nearly one (1), stoke and

poise values are very nearly the same. Therefore, because R 14 classifications are based on a range of viscosity, and because the calculated viscosity ratio is not dependent on the actual viscosity unit used, viscosity results shown in Table 5 are given in centipoise. The results in Table 5 show that all four materials meet the viscosity ratio specification in R 14.

The RA classifications in Table 5 line up fairly well between the materials that were compared. Both the RR and the Cyclogen L are classified as RA 5, but the LF and PG52-28 classifications are somewhat different. It is important to remember, however, that the classifications are based on viscosity at only one temperature. Viscosity measurements at more temperatures for each material will be presented later in the report, and the reason will become clearer as to why PG52-28 was chosen as the comparative petroleum-based binder to the LF material.

#### Flash Point

Flash point testing is required as a safety issue and was performed per AASHTO T 48 (*38*). As shown in Table 5, the LF and RR materials did not meet the flash point specification in AASHTO R 14, but they did not fail by a large margin. In fact, the margin of failure of the LF (~18°C) was essentially the same as the multi-laboratory precision d2s (i.e. reproducibility) value of 18°C, and the margin of failure of the RR (5°C) was less than the single operator precision 1s (i.e. repeatability) value of 8°C. As discussed in earlier reports in regard to the large mass loss (volatilization) experienced by the guayule-based materials during heating at typical FPM mixing temperatures, it may be necessary to pre-condition or modify the processing of the guayule-based materials to make them more thermally stable and reduce the mass loss. This action would also, presumably, increase the flash point. Testing of the PG52-28 binder was not performed because it was assumed that the flash point would be higher than that of the Cyclogen L which has a flash point of 254°C, well above the specified minimum of 218°C.

#### Gas Chromatography – Mass Spectrometry

Working with colleagues in the Environmental Engineering section of the Department of Civil, Architectural, and Environmental Engineering at the Missouri University of Science & Technology, testing was performed to evaluate the efficiency of the hexane and acetone de-solventization process, and to identify major volatiles in the RR and LF materials. The identification method used is called "headspace sampling using solid phase micro-extraction (SPME) with gas chromatography mass spectrometry (GC-MS)" (*39*). The media that was used to sample the guayule-based materials was a polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) SPME fiber. The testing was done on an operator-availability basis and not all variables (e.g. specimen size) were carefully controlled. The results are shown in Figure 2.

Most of the compounds identified in Figure 2 are terpenes, terpenoid alcohols, or essential oils. The mass spectrometry software indicated uncertainty when identifying the peak labeled as unknown, and generated a "best guess" which is the compound in parenthesis. The acetone and hexane levels (labeled low and to the left in the appropriate chromatogram) indicate that the de-solvenitzation procedures were very good at removing the solvents.



FIGURE 2: Chromatograms of LF (left) and RR (right) Materials

#### Viscosity Testing

AASHTO T 316 (*37*) was used for the viscosity testing presented in this section. Figure 3 shows the viscosity results for the original (not-RTFO-aged) RAP1, RAP2, RAS, PG52-28, and PG46-28 binders. The PG46-28 was included because at the time these tests were performed, it was not clear which petroleum-based binder(s) would be utilized in a comparative analyses.



FIGURE 3: RAP, RAS, and PG Binder Viscosities

The choice of comparing the RR to the CycL and the LF to the PG52-28 was based on their relative viscositytemperature relationships. It seemed to be the only parameter that could logically be used as a basis of comparison because the reduction of viscosity of the hardened binder in the RAP/RAS is a primary reason for utilizing a recycling agent. The viscosity results for these comparisons are given in Figure 4.



FIGURE 4: Comparison of Viscosity-Temperature Relationships

Figure 3 shows, as expected, the RAS(orig) binder is much more viscous than any of the other materials. As a pure blend (i.e. a non-blended material), the mixing temperature is ~265°C (~510°F) meaning its presence in a blend in any proportion will raise the mixing temperature of that blend, relative to what it would be without it. The Asphalt Institute has for a long time published literature in which they present recommended mixing and compaction viscosities for FPMs. The recommended binder viscosity for FPM mixing is  $0.17 \pm 0.02$  Pa·sec or  $170 \pm 20$  centipoise (40).

There are two significant features about the curves presented in Figure 4. One is the difference in the slopes for the LF and PG52-28 materials, both original and RTFO-aged. The slope of a viscosity-temperature curve shows a material's temperature susceptibility which is the change in viscosity for a given change in temperature. Low temperature susceptibility is desirable in a binder material and the LF material is superior to PG52-28 in this respect across the entire temperature range in which they were tested. Also, the relative location of the LF and PG52-28 curves shows why these two materials were chosen to be compared; they are fairly similar over a wide range of temperatures. The original and RTFO-aged RR and CycL are also very similar in terms of viscosity and the RR shows a slight advantage in temperature susceptibility over the CycL.

The second significant feature in Figure 4 is the viscosity reduction of the LF upon RTFO-aging. This behavior runs counter to that of petroleum-based binders. Discussion of possible reasons for this phenomenon is beyond the scope of this report. The RR, on the other hand, behaves typically in that the viscosity increases upon RTFO-aging. Also note the relative distance between the original and RTFO curves for all four materials. The guayule-based materials have a wider

separation than the petroleum-based binders which one would expect based upon the radical differences between the guayule-based materials and petroleum-based binders in terms of mass change upon RTFO-aging.

#### **Binder-Blending Mixture Experiment**

In order to determine the relative effects of the guayule-based materials vs. the petroleum-based binders when blended with RAP/RAS binders, and to develop response surface models (RSMs) required for FPM design, binder-blending mixture experiments were developed. The experimental design matrices for the comparison of the LF and PG52-28 binders are given in Tables 6 and 7, and the matrices for the comparison of the RR and Cyclogen L (CycL) binders are given in Tables 8 and 9. The "design" blend proportions were generated using the Design-Expert® software program based on constraints imposed on the proportion limits of each individual component, and were based on the literature and practical considerations. For the LF vs. PG52-28 and the RR vs. CycL binder-blending mixture experiments, the RAP1 and RAP2 design proportion limits were chosen to be 0 - 100%. For the LF vs. PG52-28 blends, the RAS design limits were chosen to be 0 - 50% and the VB design limits chosen to be 0 - 30%. Each blend (row) was physically created using a modified Brookfield rotational viscometer as a mixing device. Each blend was then tested to produce the appropriate response data. All response data is the average of at least two repeated measurements; i.e. tests performed on specimens sampled from the same batch. Explanation of the column headings, etc. follows the tables.

Data	Blended-	Binder Com	ponents/Pro	portions	Responses		
Туре	RAP1	RAP2	RAS	LF	TcH (°C)	TcL(°C)	
	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	86.9	-8.3	
E	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	87.0	-8.1	
Dat	0.000	1.000	0.000	0.000	95.4	-0.9	
(pe	0.000	1.000	0.000	0.000	95.2	-1.0	
are	0.000	0.500	0.500	0.000	127.7	10.5	
(sh	0.000	0.500	0.500	0.000	127.3	10.6	
R	0.500	0.500	0.000	0.000	91.7	-4.4	
- 0	0.500	0.500	0.000	0.000	91.9	-4.2	
~	0.500	0.000	0.500	0.000	122.4	6.5	
	0.750	0.000	0.250	0.000	102.1	-1.9	
	0.000	0.300	0.000	0.700	55.5	-14.5	
æ	0.150	0.000	0.150	0.700	54.1	-16.5	
Dat	0.650	0.000	0.000	0.350	71.5	-9.0	
Ĩc ]	0.000	0.000	0.500	0.500	90.3	-4.8	
ecif	0.000	0.360	0.260	0.380	93.7	-1.6	
Sp	0.325	0.325	0.000	0.350	74.2	-6.2	
AB.	0.167	0.167	0.500	0.167	121.4	4.8	
	0.000	0.650	0.000	0.350	78.4	-6.3	
	0.360	0.000	0.260	0.380	88.5	-1.8	

TABLE 6: Binder-Blending Mixture Experiment Results: LF as Virgin Binder (VB)

Table column heading definitions are as follows:

Mixture components

RAP1 = RAP from I-44 project

RAP2 = RAP from a Washington, Missouri street project

RAS = Processed tear-off roofing shingles

LF, PG52-28, RR, and CycL = VB = Virgin binder; either a guayule-based material or petroleum-based binder.

Data	Blended-	Binder Com	portions	Responses		
Туре	RAP1	RAP1 RAP2 RAS		PG52-28	TcH (°C)	TcL (°C)
	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	86.9	-8.3
ta	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	87.0	-8.1
Da	0.000	1.000	0.000	0.000	95.4	-0.9
(pa	0.000	1.000	0.000	0.000	95.2	-1.0
lar	0.000	0.500	0.500	0.000	127.7	10.5
(sh	0.000	0.500	0.500	0.000	127.3	10.6
VB	0.500	0.500	0.000	0.000	91.7	-4.4
- 0	0.500	0.500	0.000	0.000	91.9	-4.2
~	0.500	0.000	0.500	0.000	122.4	6.5
	0.750	0.000	0.250	0.000	102.1	-1.9
	0.000	0.300	0.000	0.700	69.1	-19.3
æ	0.150	0.000	0.150	0.700	73.9	-18.3
Dat	0.650	0.000	0.000	0.350	76.5	-14.6
ic I	0.000	0.000	0.500	0.500	103.3	-4.7
scif	0.000	0.360	0.260	0.380	94.6	-5.3
Spe	0.325	0.325	0.000	0.350	79.8	-12.4
∕₿-	0.167	0.167	0.500	0.167	117.3	4.3
-	0.000	0.650	0.000	0.350	83.4	-9.6
	0.360	0.000	0.260	0.380	91.0	-9.2

TABLE 7: Binder-Blending Mixture Experiment Results: PG52-28 as Virgin Binder (VB)

Responses determined through Dynamic Shear Rheometer (DSR) testing (41, 42, 43)

 $T_cH$  = High critical temperature: An indicator of FPM rutting potential and the lowest (coolest) of the two temperatures determined under the following conditions:

- The temperature at which the ratio of the complex modulus (G\*) to the sine of the phase angle (sinδ) equals 1.00 kPa, as determined during DSR testing at 10 radians/second on original binder.
- 2. The temperature at which the ratio of the complex modulus (G\*) to the sine of the phase angle (sinδ) equals 2.20 kPa, as determined during DSR testing at 10 radians/second on RTFO-aged binder.

Responses determined through Bending Beam Rheometer (BBR) testing (44, 42, 43)

 $T_cL$  = Low critical temperature: An indicator of FPM cold-temperature (thermal) cracking potential and the highest (warmest) of the two temperatures determined under the following conditions:

- 1. The temperature at which the creep stiffness (S) equals 300 MPa at 60 seconds of loading during BBR testing of pressure aging vessel(PAV)-aged binder.
- 2. The temperature at which the m-value (the absolute value of the slope of the logarithm of the stiffness curves versus the logarithm of the time) equals 0.300 at 60 seconds of loading during BBR testing of PAV-aged binder.

The mixture experiment is a special type of methodology for generating response surface models (RSMs) for design. What sets the mixture experiment apart from other RSM designs is the fact that the level of each component (factor) is dependent on the levels of the other components; i.e. the percentages of each component must add up to 100%. To generate the RSMs, ten (10) experimental runs (i.e. data points or blends) were required in order to fit the desired model to the data (in this case, a Scheffe quadratic model), at least three (3) additional unique blends were created to check for lack of fit, and at least four (4) replicates tests (duplicates of some of the other blends) were generated to calculate pure

error. By definition, a "replicate test" is one in which all process variability is included in the replicate blend to be tested. Listed below each component are the proportions (by weight) of each component per blend or run, and the colored blends indicate replicate tests where each pair of replicate tests is the same color.

Data	Blended-	Binder Com	portions	Responses		
Туре	RAP1	RAP2	RAS	RAS RR		TcL (°C)
ta	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	87.7	-6.2
Da	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	87.5	-6.3
(pa	0.000	1.000	0.000	0.000	93.9	-1.0
ar	0.000	1.000	0.000	0.000	94.5	-1.3
(sł	0.210	0.718	0.072	0.000	97.1	-1.1
AB	0.210	0.718	0.072	0.000	97.0	-1.5
ļ	0.648	0.202	0.150	0.000	97.8	-2.6
4	0.832	0.162	0.006	0.000	90.1	-5.4
	0.000	0.768	0.150	0.082	91.0	-5.8
	0.425	0.454	0.003	0.119	77.7	-13.0
ata	0.425	0.454	0.003	0.119	77.5	-14.4
Ő	0.215	0.513	0.150	0.122	83.7	-10.4
ific	0.740	0.000	0.092	0.168	72.4	-17.0
pec	0.740	0.000	0.092	0.168	72.6	-17.4
s S	0.000	0.685	0.043	0.272	62.4	-22.5
F	0.631	0.069	0.000	0.300	56.3	-22.5
	0.401	0.149	0.150	0.300	62.0	-22.4
	0.204	0.346	0.150	0.300	62.2	-22.6

TABLE 8: Binder-Blending Mixture Experiment Results: RR as Virgin Binder (VB)

TABLE 9: Binder-Blending Mixture Experiment Results: CycL as Virgin Binder (VB)

Data	Blended-	Binder Com	ponents/Pro	portions	Responses		
Туре	RAP1	RAP1 RAP2		CycL	TcH (°C)	TcL (°C)	
ta	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	87.7	-6.2	
Da	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	87.5	-6.3	
ed)	0.000	1.000	0.000	0.000	93.9	-1.0	
ar	0.000	1.000	0.000	0.000	94.5	-1.3	
(sł	0.210	0.718	0.072	0.000	97.1	-1.1	
AB	0.210	0.718	0.072	0.000	97.0	-1.5	
- 0	0.648	0.202	0.150	0.000	97.8	-2.6	
4	0.832	0.162	0.006	0.000	90.1	-5.4	
	0.000	0.768	0.150	0.082	91.3	-6.4	
	0.425	0.454	0.003	0.119	76.1	-14.4	
ata	0.425	0.454	0.003	0.119	76.3	-15.2	
ΰ	0.215	0.513	0.150	0.122	84.0	-11.7	
ific	0.740	0.000	0.092	0.168	72.0	-19.1	
pec	0.740	0.000	0.092	0.168	72.2	-19.6	
8-S	0.000	0.685	0.043	0.272	62.7	-23.5	
AF 1	0.631	0.069	0.000	0.300	54.9	-23.7	
	0.401	0.149	0.150	0.300	61.0	-23.8	
	0.204	0.346	0.150	0.300	62.1	-23.9	

For each of the four (4) tables above, two regression analyses were performed: one to generate a  $T_cH$  RSM and another to generate a  $T_cL$  RSM. The component (RAP1, etc.) percentages (in decimal form) were the independent variables, and the responses ( $T_cH$  and  $T_cL$ ) were the dependent variables. Please note that for both comparisons (LF vs. PG52-28, and RR vs. CycL), the blends that do not include virgin binder (i.e. No-VB or reclaimed binders only) were only created and tested once; i.e. that data was "shared" between the guayule-based VB and petroleum-based VB analyses.

Once the RSMs are established, DesignExpert can be used to "optimize" the component proportions to meet a desired T<sub>c</sub>H and/or T<sub>c</sub>L value or range of values. If possible, many different optimization solutions can be generated by DesignExpert imparting more flexibility in the FPM design process.

The term "original binder," as it is used above, means that the reclaimed RAP/RAS binder or blend, or a RAP/RAS/VB blend has not been subjected to any aging (i.e. RTFO or PAV) in the laboratory. In reality, however, the reclaimed binders have already experienced significant aging as a result of their in-service history. With this in mind, it is important to point out that none of the blends shown in the above tables were PAV-aged, although this is required for standard BBR testing, as described above. The reason for this is because approximately half of the blends per table did not include a virgin binder, and the AASHTO 323 Appendix (*43*) specifies that when characterizing reclaimed binders, RTFO-aging is sufficient and is used in-lieu of PAV-aging. Thus to keep from injecting another variable into the mixture experimental designs, all blends, those that had a virgin binder and those that did not (i.e. No-VB), were RTFO-aged only when aging was required for testing. Therefore, the T<sub>c</sub>L RSMs generated are based on RTFO-aged binder which means that estimated T<sub>c</sub>L values using the RSMs would be lower (cooler) than actual T<sub>c</sub>L values based on PAV-aged binder.

Finally, any blend ultimately chosen to be used in FPM design should first be verified as to whether or not it meets the required specifications using the appropriate test procedures, which would include testing of the PAV-aged blend. The following response descriptions discuss verification testing (in addition to BBR testing of PAV-aged binder) to be performed on an optimized blend that has been chosen for FPM design.

#### Response determined through Dynamic Shear Rheometer (DSR) testing (41, 42, 43)

 $T_cInt =$  Intermediate critical temperature: An indicator of FPM fatigue cracking potential and the temperature at which the product of G\* and sin $\delta$  equals 5000 kPa as determined during DSR testing at 10 radians/second on PAV-aged binder.

Response determined through Brookfield Rotational Viscometer testing (37, 45)

Maximum viscosity at  $135^{\circ}C = 3 Pa \cdot sec = 3000$  centipoise

Response determined through Flash Point testing (38, 45)

Minimum flash point =  $230^{\circ}$ C

Response determined through Mass Change testing (34, 45)

Maximum mass change =  $\pm 1.00\%$ 

Responses determined on RTFO-aged binder using the Multiple Stress Creep Recovery (MSCR) test which utilizes the DSR: All averages based on 10 creep – recovery cycles (46, 47)

 $J_{nr(3.2)} [J_{nr(0.1)}] =$  Average non-recoverable creep compliance at 3.2 kPa of creep stress [and 0.1 kPa, respectively]

 $J_{nr(diff)}$  = Percent difference between  $J_{nr(0.1)}$  and  $J_{nr(3.2)}$ 

 $R_{(3.2)}[R_{(0.1)}] =$  Average percent recovery at 3.2 kPa of creep stress [and 0.1 kPa, respectively]

 $R_{(diff)}$  = Percent difference between  $R_{(0.1)}$  and  $R_{(3.2)}$ 

The high, intermediate, and low critical temperatures ( $T_c$ ) are the primary bases for the grading of a PG binder under specifications set forth in AASHTO M 320 (45), which is still the predominant petroleum-based binder specification utilized by most state DOTs.

The MSCR test responses,  $J_{nr(3.2)}$ ,  $J_{nr(diff)}$ ,  $R_{(3.2)}$ , and  $R_{(diff)}$  are determined through DSR testing as described in the AASHTO provisional test method TP 70 (46). These responses are indicators of rutting potential, stress sensitivity, the presence of a polymer and, if present, the quality of blending. The MSCR test is specified to be performed on RTFO-aged

binder and the test temperature depends on the environmental high pavement temperature and is usually selected by the specifying agency. For example, MoDOT has implemented the AASHTO specification, MP 19 (47), and specifies that the MSCR test be performed at 64°C on FPM binders used on Missouri state highways. In MP 19, traffic loading is the only other criteria for grading a binder when using the MSCR test. Traffic loading designations are "S" for standard, "H" for heavy, "V" for very heavy, and "E" for extremely heavy traffic. This traffic loading designation system replaces the "grade bumping" practice traditionally performed when following the PG binder specification, AASHTO M 320 (46). Under MP 19,  $J_{nr(3.2)}$  and  $J_{nr(diff)}$  are the only criteria required for making pass/fail determinations. For all temperatures and traffic loading designations,  $J_{nr(diff)}$  cannot exceed 75%. The maximum  $J_{nr(3.2)}$  value, on the other hand, is a function of traffic but not temperature. For example,  $J_{nr(3.2)}$  cannot exceed 4.0 kPa<sup>-1</sup> for the standard traffic "S" grade but the maximum  $J_{nr(3.2)}$  is lowered to 1.0 kPa<sup>-1</sup> for the very heavy traffic "V" grade.  $R_{(3.2)}$  and  $R_{(diff)}$  are obtained through MSCR testing and are used to determine the elastic response and stress dependence of polymer modified and neat binders, but they are not required as part of MP 19.

#### Results of the LF vs. PG52-28 and RR vs. Cyclogen L Comparisons

The VB-specific data in Tables 6 - 9 (i.e. those blends that include a virgin binder) was used to develop Figures 5 - 10. These plots show the correlations between the T<sub>c</sub>H and T<sub>c</sub>L, and the absolute temperature spread (T<sub>c</sub>H - T<sub>c</sub>L) of the materials being compared. Figures 5 - 7 shows the LF vs. PG52-28 direct comparisons.



FIGURE 5: T<sub>c</sub>H Correlation (LF vs. PG52-28)



FIGURE 6: T<sub>c</sub>L Correlation (LF vs. PG52-28)



FIGURE 7: T<sub>c</sub>H – T<sub>c</sub>L Correlation (LF vs. PG52-28)

As indicated in Figures 5 – 7, the PG52-28-RAP/RAS blends generally had higher (warmer)  $T_cH$  values, lower (cooler)  $T_cL$  values, and therefore, generally larger absolute temperature spreads than the proportionally-identical LF-RAP/RAS blends; i.e. a wider range means better overall performance. Although these results were discouraging, it should be understood that even though the LF did not favorably compare in a direct manner to the PG52-28 binder, the LF material

could still prove to be useful in a different type of FPM application. Nonetheless, these results focused the remaining effort in the project on the RR. Figures 8 - 10 show the same correlations for the RR vs. CycL comparison.



FIGURE 8: T<sub>c</sub>H Correlation (RR vs. CycL)



**FIGURE 9:** T<sub>c</sub>L Correlation (RR vs. CycL)



FIGURE 10: T<sub>c</sub>H – T<sub>c</sub>L Correlation (RR vs. CycL)

The plots in Figures 8 – 10 clearly show that the RR vs. CycL direct comparisons are much more favorable than the LF vs. PG52-28. The  $T_cH$  correlation is almost perfect but slightly favors the RR. The  $T_cL$  correlation definitely favors the CycL but the bias is only a degree or two on average. Most importantly, the absolute temperature spread correlation is significantly different at an alpha value of 0.05, but, again is only slightly biased toward the CycL, and not for every blend. These results demonstrated that the RR could be used in a practical sense as a recycling agent, and prompted the move to start FPM design, production, and testing.

#### **Response Surface Models (RSMs): Generation and Optimization**

Generation of the response surface models (RSMs) was performed using regression analysis procedures within DesignExpert using the data in Tables 6 - 9. To reiterate, two (2) RSMs were generated per table: one for T<sub>c</sub>H and one for T<sub>c</sub>L. As the focus was now only on the RR, only the RR RSMs were necessary to utilize and are given in Equations (Eqs.) 1 and 2 below, where the independent variables (RAP1, etc.) are the decimal fractions of the proportions in a given blend.

$$TcH = 87.621(RAP1) + 94.333(RAP2) + 143.65(RAS) + 13.118(RR) + 4.678(RAP1 \times RAP2)$$
(1)  
-45.586(RAP1 \times RR) - 55.897(RAP2 \times RR) - 118.04(RAS \times RR)   
$$TcL = -6.3091(RAP1) - 1.4086(RAP2) + 27.029(RAS) - 1.9789(RR) - 25.935(RAP1 \times RAS)$$
(2)  
-83.281(RAP1 \times RR) - 108.97(RAP2 \times RR) - 152.18(RAS \times RR) (2)

Before beginning the FPM design procedure, a particular blend had to be developed that would result in a desired grade of binder. To keep things as simple as possible, the DesignExpert optimization process was utilized to determine sets of component proportions (or solutions) that would generate a blend meeting the specifications for a PG64-22 binder. The solutions were based on the RR T<sub>c</sub>H and T<sub>c</sub>L RSMs shown in Eqs. 1 and 2.

If one should choose to use Eqs. 1 and 2 directly, the component proportions (independent variable values) should be in the form of decimal percentages, and the sum of those percentages must be 1.00 (i.e. 100%). For example, if one wanted to estimate  $T_cH$  for a blend that had 70% RAP1, 0% RAP2, 5% RAS, and 25% RR (all percentages sum to 100%), one would input 0.70 everywhere RAP1 appears in Eq. 1, 0.00 everywhere RAP2 appears in Eq. 1, 0.05 everywhere RAS appears in Eq. 1, and 0.25 everywhere RR appears in Eq. 1. The same procedure would be used for estimating  $T_cL$ , Eq. 2. Of course, it is important to remember that the regression coefficients on the main effects terms and the interaction terms are specific to the materials used in this project.

Figure 11 shows the DesignExpert optimization output for producing a blend estimated to meet specifications for a PG64-22 binder.

The "optimization" constraints on the components (i.e. the RAPs, RAS, and RR proportion limits) shown in Figure 11 were selected to be the same as those used in the design proportion generation at the very beginning of the binderblending mixture experiments (discussed at the beginning of the Binder-Blending Mixture Experiments section). This selection utilizes the entire data space created during the testing of the various design blends. The "response" constraints shown in Figure 11 were chosen such that estimated T<sub>c</sub>H would be greater than or equal to 67.5°C and the T<sub>c</sub>L would be less than or equal to -20.2°C. The "weight" and "importance" of each constraint setting could also be adjusted, but were left at their default values for this project.

Constrair	nts							
			Lower	Upper	Lower	Upper		
Name	Goal	Goal		Limit	Weight	Weight	Importa	nce
A:RAP1	is in ran	is in range		1	1	1	3	
B:RAP2	is in ran	is in range		1	1	1	3	
C:RAS	is in ran	ge	0	0.15	1	1	3	
D:RR	is in ran	is in range		0.3	1	1	3	
TcH	is in ran	is in range			1	1	3	
TcL	is in ran	ge		-20.2	1	1	3	
Solutions	5							
Number	RAP1	RAP2	RAS	RR	TcH	TcL	Desirabi	lity
1	0.424	0.178	0.150	0.248	67.5	-20.2	1.000	Selected
2	0.518	0.090	0.150	0.243	67.5	-20.2	1.000	
3	0.463	0.143	0.148	0.245	67.5	-20.2	1.000	
4	0.487	0.119	0.150	0.244	67.5	-20.2	1.000	

FIGURE 11: Optimization Solutions to Satisfy PG64-22 Binder TcH and TcL Specifications

At this point, it is necessary to understand that there is a 10°C offset on the T<sub>c</sub>L value when actually identifying a PG binder. During development of the standard BBR test procedure (AASHTO T 313), a time/temperature superposition phenomenon was observed that was adopted in the test procedure. Researchers noticed that if the test temperature was

increased 10°C (thereby decreasing the stiffness) and the loading time was decreased from two hours to 60 seconds, they obtained similar deflection results (48). So, in order for a binder to meet the specification for, say, a PG64-22 binder, the  $T_cH$  must be greater than or equal to 64°C (thus the estimated  $T_cH$  response constraint of 67.5°C, which allows for a 3.5°C margin of estimation error), and the  $T_cL$  must be less than or equal to -12°C. Remember that the  $T_cL$  is, by specification, to be determined on PAV-aged binder. Therefore, selection of -20.2°C as the upper threshold  $T_cL$  temperature for optimization purposes was an educated guess knowing that the  $T_cL$  RSMs were based on RTFO-aged blends, which are expected to be not as stiff, generally speaking, as PAV-aged blends.

Solution #1 in Figure 11 is only one of four solutions found in the optimization process that has the highest possible desirability rating of 1.000, and it is highlighted because it was selected for beginning FPM design. Based on discussion in the previous paragraph, the estimated "true" grade of the Solution #1 blend should be a PG67.5-30.2, again remembering that the lower number is based on testing RTFO-aged blends.

The next step was to physically build the Solution #1 blend, to be referred to as the RR5 blend throughout the remainder of this report, and verify that it did indeed meet the specifications for a PG64-22 binder. Binder grade verification testing, as described in the Binder-Blending Mixture Experiments section, was performed on the RR5 blend and its actual true grade was determined to be a PG65.5-24.3 based on  $T_cH$ ,  $T_cL$ , and  $T_cInt$  testing required in M 320 (45). MSCR testing was performed per TP-70 (46) and the RR5 blend met the PG64-22 Standard Grade specifications set forth in MP-19 (47). The rotational viscosity of the original (non-aged) RR5 blend at 135°C was 390 centipoise or 0.39 Pa·sec, well below the maximum limit of 3 Pa·sec. But the RR5 blend did not meet the mass change specification. Mass change was -3.1% and the maximum allowable change is  $\pm 1.0\%$ . Whether or not failing to meet the mass change specification is a significant issue is not clear at this time. Flash point is yet to be determined but it is assumed that it will easily meet the minimum of 230°C based on the high RAP/RAS content and the fact that the RR pure blend (not-blended with other materials) flash point was 213°C. Now knowing that the RR5 blend met almost all PG64-22 specifications, FPM design was initiated.

#### Flexible Pavement Mixture (FPM) Design, Production, and Testing (Task 3)

#### FPM Design

Using the verified RR5 blend discussed in the previous section, a spreadsheet was developed to control the blendedbinder grade and the aggregate gradation of the FPM. Figure 12 shows a major portion of the spreadsheet. The goals of the FPM design process were to achieve a blend of reclaimed and virgin materials (aggregates and binder, which includes the RR) that will 1) achieve the desired binder grade (e.g. PG64-22), 2) meet gradation specifications, and 3) meet FPM volumetric criteria (% air voids, % voids in the mineral aggregate or VMA, and % voids filled with asphalt or VFA).

					Aggregate	Percentages	6					
			RAP1	RAP2	RAS	1/2" Clean	3/8" Clean	MS	SUM chk	% Reclaim.		
										Aggregate		
			36.89%	13.43%	2.80%	0.00%	46.88%	0.00%	100.00%	53.12%		
		Pbr	4.76%	5.45%	22.79%							
				Aggr	egate Batch	n Weights (g	rams)					
Agg Wt. (g	a)	12200	RAP1	RAP2	RAS	1/2" Clean	3/8" Clean	MS	SUM			
(2 gyro, 1	Rice)		4500.6	1638.5	341.6	0.0	5719.4	0.0	12200.0			
Reclaimed	Binder Wei	ghts (g)	224.9	94.4	100.8							
Total Recla	aimed binde	r (q)	420.2									
		107										
			RAP/	RAS-Aaarea	ate-Added	Binder Batc	h Weights (g	rams)		Added E	Binder (a)	1
	Mi	x ID	RAP1	RAP2	RAS	1/2" Clean	3/8" Clean	ŃS	SUM	RR	PG64-22	
	RR5M T2	5-RR(6")(2)	4725.5	1732.9	442.4	0.0	5719.4	0.0	12620.2	125.0	0.0	
	R/	\P1	RA	P2								
	R1/4"	P1/4"	R1/4"	P1/4"								
%/fraction	39.8	60.2	34.2	65.8								
Batch wt.	1881.3	2844.2	593.4	1139.5								
Target %s	of Blended	Binder:	RAP1	RAP2	RAS	RR		NOTE: Ba	sed on only	/ RTFO-aging	no PAV-a	aina.
Design Ex	pert Results	>	42.4%	17.8%	15.0%	24.8%		Estimated	True Grade	e = PG67.5-3	30.2	5···3·
			56.38%	23.67%	19.95%			Actual Tru	e Grade =	PG65.5-24.3		
						This is based on PAV-aging					adind	
Blue highli	ahted propo	rtions (above	& below) sl	hould be ab	out equal pe	er reclaimed	material.					
	×'_											
% Binder /	Available for	Blending										
RAP1	RAP2	RAS	% of	f Blended bi	nder	SUM			Total	Total	1	
100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	53.53%	22.48%	24.00%	100.00%	Added B	inder (g)	Added	Mix	%RR	%PG64-22
95.0%	95.0%	75.0%	56.38%	23.67%	19.95%	100.00%	RR	PG64-22	Binder (g)	Weight (g)	by mix wt.	by mix wt.
Blended B	inder weight	(g)	213.7	89.7	75.6	379.0	125.0		125.0	12745.2	0.98%	0.00%
										%VB	Pbr by	Pbr by
	% of Total	Binder =	42.40	17.80	15.00		24.80	0.00		by mix wt.	binder wt.	mix wt.
		Pb =	4.28%							0.98%	77.07%	3.30%
	Weighted (	Gb =	1.029									
					Fractional	Gradations						
1/2" Clean	3/8" Clean	MS	RAP1	RAP2	RAS	1/2" Clean	3/8" Clean	MS	Sieve size	Combined	SP125	BP-1
										Gradation	Spec	Spec
% Pass	% Pass	% Pass	% Pass	% Pass	% Pass	% Pass	% Pass	% Pass		% Pass	% Pass	% Pass
100.0	100.0	100.0	36.9	13.4	2.8	0.0	46.9	0.0	3/4"	100.0	100 min	100 min
83.0	) 100.0	100.0	35.6	13.4	2.8	0.0	46.9	0.0	1/2"	98.7	90-100	85-100
38.6	5 100.0	100.0	33.5	13.2	2.8	0.0	46.9	0.0	3/8"	96.4	90 max	
4.6	6 44.3	100.0	25.7	10.0	2.8	0.0	20.8	0.0	#4	59.3		50-70
4.0	12.2	76.3	18.7	6.6	2.7	0.0	5.7	0.0	#8	33.8	28-58	30-55
3.9	6.8	47.2	15.1	4.8	2.3	0.0	3.2	0.0	#16	25.3		
3.7	5.6	29.5	12.3	3.6	1.6	0.0	2.6	0.0	#30	20.2		10-30
3.5	5.0	18.5	9.5	2.5	1.4	0.0	2.3	0.0	#50	15.7		
3.0	4.3	13.0	5.8	1.7	1.3	0.0	2.0	0.0	#100	10.7		
2.3	3.4	9.6	3.5	1.3	1.0	0.0	1.6	0.0	#200	7.4	2-10	5-12

#### FIGURE 12: FPM Mix Design Spreadsheet

The first item to point out in Figure 12 is the pink highlighted cells marked as "DesignExpert Results." These are input cells for any verified binder blend component proportions. In this case, it is the component proportions for the verified RR5 blend discussed in the previous section, 42.4% RAP1, 17.8% RAP2, 15.0% RAS, and 24.8% RR (or CycL for FPM comparative analyses; to be discussed later).

The next step in using the spreadsheet is to decide the "% Binder Available for Blending" percentages (green cells, center-left). It cannot be overstated how much of an issue this is in the FPM paving industry today. The question of how much of the binder in the RAP/RAS is actually blending with virgin binder and contributing to the performance of the FPM is being heavily investigated at this time. Detailed discussion of this matter will not be performed in this report due to report-length limitations. Suffice it to say that based on the literature and engineering judgment, the actual percentage of binder available for blending is less than 100% (complete binder availability) and much more than 0% (the "black

rock" scenario). Therefore, based on the literature and many conversations with industry practitioners and experts, the RAP and RAS binder availability percentages were set at 95% and 75%, respectively.

The next step is to adjust the purple highlighted cells at the very top so that the light-blue highlighted cells directly above one another in the reclaimed materials columns are approximately equal per reclaimed material. This step adjusts the proportions of the reclaimed materials to keep the blended-binder grade at the desired level. At the same time, it changes the combined aggregate gradation and the reclaimed binder content.

The next step is to adjust the virgin aggregate percentages to fine-tune the combined gradation. The aggregate percentages, reclaimed and virgin, must sum to 100%.

Finally, the total binder content as a percentage of the mix ( $P_b$ ) can be adjusted upward by adding, in this case, some PG64-22 petroleum-based binder, or, if  $P_b$  is too high initially, the proportions of reclaimed materials can be lowered but in a manner that keeps the blended-binder grade at its desired level.

There is quite a bit of flexibility in this design process. There is choice in the binder blend proportions (DesignExpert solutions) that can produce a desired binder grade, the % Binder Available for Blending percentages can be changed if so desired, the number and gradation of the different virgin aggregates can be adjusted, the relative proportion of the reclaimed materials to the virgin aggregates can be adjusted, and the reclaimed materials could be fractionated to provide much more control of the gradation.

Following specification-verification of the RR5 blend, all effort has been focused on producing a FPM that meets, preferably, MoDOT Superpave specifications (i.e. SP125), or alternatively, plant mix bituminous pavement/base specifications (i.e. BP-1). However, many attempts to use the RR5 blend in a SP125 mix failed to produce a FPM meeting the volumetric and dust-to-effective binder (D/P<sub>be</sub>) specifications; there are just too many fines in the RAPs. It seems that the only way to achieve a high-RAP/RAS FPM that meets Superpave specifications would be to fractionate the RAPs into two or, more probably, three (or more) fractions thus allowing for much more gradation control. Of course, this would require much more characterization testing of the fractionated RAPs (FRAPs). Based on the failure to produce a SP125 FPM using the RR5 blend and high percentages of RAP/RAS, the focus shifted to producing a FPM using the RR5 blend that would meet BP-1 specifications.

It is important to point out that for all of the preliminary design, production, and testing of FPMs, CycL was used in lieu of the RR because of the limited amount of RR on hand.

MoDOT requires the use of a modified Marshall FPM design procedure for BP mixes but allows for the use of six inch diameter, gyratory-compacted specimens for volumetric determination, when applicable. Once a design gradation is determined, at least three total binder contents (at a maximum separation of 0.5%) are to be evaluated.

The FPM in Figure 12 was used as the basic RR5 blend FPM design. The combined gradation meets the BP-1 specification, and there is *no* virgin, petroleum-based binder (i.e. PG64-22) added to the mixture; a feature that is highly relevant to the project concept. However, after many trial batches (again, using CycL in lieu of the RR), it became apparent that the RR5 blend was not conducive to 1) producing a BP-1 mix with no added virgin petroleum-based binder, and 2) satisfying volumetric specifications. A total of three total binder contents were evaluated. The lowest binder content was satisfied by the basic RR5 blend FPM design, but the intermediate and highest total binder content FPMs had some PG64-22 added to the basic RR5 blend FPM. For each FPM, sufficient mix was generated to produce a theoretical maximum specific gravity ( $G_{mm}$ ) specimen and two, six inch diameter gyratory-compacted specimens. All specimens

were treated the same throughout the production process and each gyratory specimen was compacted using the MoDOT specified 35 gyrations. The results are shown in Table 10.

Property	P <sub>b</sub>	PG64-22	P <sub>be</sub>	D/P <sub>be</sub>	Specimen	Air Voids	VMA	VFA
Binder Level	(%)**	(%)**	(%)**		Height (mm)*	(%)*	(%)	(%)
Low	4.28	0.00	3.64	2.03	117.8	5.83	14.15	58.75
Intermediate	4.58	0.31	3.94	1.87	116.2	4.60	13.70	66.40
High	4.88	0.63	4.25	1.74	114.8	3.47	13.43	74.13
<b>BP-1</b> Specification	$\geq$	$\geq$	$\geq$	***	110 - 120	3.5	≥13.5	60 - 80

TABLE 10: RR5 FPM Design Results

\* Based on the average of two specimens

\*\*Based on mix weight

\*\*\*No MoDOT specification; BP-1 mix designers strive for D/Pbe of 1.5 - 2.0

As can be seen in Table 10, a  $P_b$  of 4.88% should result in a FPM with the desired level of air voids and VFA. However, VMA would be borderline out-of-specification, and VMA could be argued to be the most important volumetric property to use for prioritizing FPM design selection. Many designers purposely select designs with VMA levels 0.5% higher than the required minimum. This is especially true when there is RAP/RAS in the FPM because the use of the effective specific gravity ( $G_{se}$ ) of the RAP/RAS as a substitute for the RAP/RAS aggregate bulk specific gravity ( $G_{sb}$ ) artificially inflates the calculated VMA of the FPM, and MoDOT requires the use of  $G_{se}$  in RAP/RAS FPM designs. Therefore, because the RAP/RAS content was so high for the RR5 FPM, 4.50% was chosen as the design  $P_b$  content as it should produce a VMA of about 13.8% and a VFA that is still within specification limits. However, it was expected that air void levels would be higher than desired but still within a generally acceptable level of  $4 \pm 1\%$ .

Using the Figure 12 design with an additional 30 grams of PG64-22 (i.e.  $P_b$  of 4.50%), four batches of FPM were ultimately produced. Prior to batching the aggregates, the RAPs were split (fractionated) on the <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> inch screen in an effort to better control the gradation during batching. The percentages of the -<sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> inch (P1/4 ) and +<sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> inch (R1/4 ) for each RAP were determined and, during batching of the RAPs, the P1/4 and R1/4 fractions were recombined at the same percentages. This was done to assure that the RAP binder properties were not changed; i.e. without knowing each FRAP's binder content and grade, recombining the FRAPs in proportions other than the original percentages could have affected the total reclaimed binder content and/or blended binder grade.

In a continuing effort to minimize variability in the FPM batching process, sufficient amounts of each of the six aggregates (the four FRAPS, the RAS, and the <sup>3</sup>/<sub>8</sub> inch clean) were systematically reduced such that each half of the last split was used to build one FPM batch; one half for a RR-based FPM and the other half for a CycL-based FPM. This process was repeated twice resulting in two aggregate batches, or four FPM batches. The CycL for both CycL batches came from the same 5-gallon can while the RR for each RR batch came from two separately extracted/recovered (replicate) samples.

For each of the four FPM batches, sufficient mix was generated to produce a theoretical maximum specific gravity  $(G_{mm})$  specimen and two, six inch diameter gyratory-compacted specimens. All specimens were treated the same throughout the production process and all eight gyratory specimens were compacted using 35 gyrations. The results are shown in Table 11.

Property	Specimen Height (mm)		Air Voids (%)		VMA (%)		VFA (%)	
Recycling Agent	RR	CycL	RR	CycL	RR	CycL	RR	CycL
Batch1-Spec1	116.9	115.0	5.28	3.90	$\land$	$\geq$	$\land$	$\geq$
Batch1-Spec2	116.4	115.2	4.99	4.08	$\backslash$	$\land$	$\searrow$	$\land$
Batch1 Mean	116.7	115.1	5.13	3.99	14.2	13.4	63.9	70.1
Batch2-Spec1	114.1	114.5	3.29	3.53	$\searrow$	$\geq$	$\searrow$	$\geq$
Batch2-Spec2	114.2	114.6	3.38	3.67	$\searrow$	$\geq$	$\searrow$	$\geq$
Batch2 Mean	114.2	114.6	3.33	3.60	12.6	13.0	73.5	72.3
Overall Mean	$\land$	$\backslash$	4.24	3.80	13.4	13.2	68.7	71.2
<b>BP-1</b> Specification	110 - 120		3.5		≥13.5		60 - 80	

TABLE 11: RR and CycL FPM Volumetric Comparison

The batch-to-batch variability of the RR-based FPMs is high and is speculated to be a function of differences between the two RR replicate samples used for FPM batching. It seems that the RR can auto-oxidize over time; if exposed to air for a prolonged period of time, solids resembling fat globules eventually form and settle to the bottom of the storage container. This segregation was not sufficiently remedied before obtaining the RR from the container for mixing Batch2. The RR for Batch2 was noticeably less viscous as it was placed into the mixing bucket and, not surprisingly, reduced the overall binder blend viscosity relative to Batch1. This reduced viscosity reduced the resistance to compaction and resulted in a relatively shorter specimen with a considerably lower VMA and % air voids.

Setting the variability issue aside, the basic FPM design resulted in a fair mix; % air voids were slightly high but fell in the generally acceptable range of  $4 \pm 1\%$ , VMA was slightly low, but VFA met specification. This FPM utilized 53% reclaimed aggregate (from the RAPs and RAS) and, therefore, 47% virgin aggregate. More importantly, and in relation to the project concept, only 0.23% of the total FPM mass (or 5.62% of total binder mass) was virgin PG64-22 binder. The rest of the binder was RAP/RAS binder and RR.

#### Hamburg Wheel-Track Testing

Hamburg wheel-track testing of the FPM was performed using the same FPM design reflected in the Table 11 results except specimen mass and thickness was controlled to produce 6 inch diameter specimens with a % air voids of  $7\pm1\%$  (49). The batching procedure was the same as in FPM design and produced four Superpave gyratory-compacted (SGC) specimens per recycling agent. A Hamburg specimen was produced by cutting two 62 mm thick SGC specimens in such a manner that when butted against one another resulted in a continuous wheel path approximately 10 inches long. Two Hamburg specimens were submerged in 50°C water and subjected to 20,000 wheel passes, or however many passes that produced a pre-determined, maximum impression depth based on the applicable specification (the software default of 14 mm was used for this study). A full 20,000 wheel passes takes about 7 hours to complete. Figure 13 shows the Hamburg test results.



FIGURE 13: RR vs. CycL FPM-Hamburg Wheel-Track Testing Comparison

Hamburg wheel-track testing is a good indicator of rutting and stripping (moisture damage) potential of a FPM. There are four basic parameters identified in Figure 13: post-compaction consolidation, creep slope, strip slope, and stripping inflection point. Post-compaction consolidation is usually taken at 1000 wheel passes and is considered to be the result of the wheel load densifying the mixture. Creep slope is a measure of the rutting susceptibility due to gradation, binder stiffness, particle shape, etc., but not moisture damage. The stripping inflection point and strip slope are measures of moisture damage. Where the strip slope is a measure of accumulated deformation due to moisture damage, the stripping inflection point is a way to identify when the mixture performance becomes mostly a function of moisture damage. The Colorado Department of Transportation reports that a stripping inflection point occurring before 10,000 wheel passes indicates a stripping susceptible FPM (*50*).

The test data from two Hamburg specimens was averaged to produce the curves shown in Figure 13. The test method recommends a void content of  $7 \pm 1\%$  for the test specimens. The average voids content (based on four SGC specimens) for each mix is indicated on Figure 13 and shows that the voids compare very closely with the RR mix having slightly higher voids. Variability among the SGC specimen voids content is essentially the same for each mix.

In making conclusions about the results shown in Figure 13, one must consider that the short-term aged viscosity of the pure RR is slightly higher than the short-term aged viscosity of the pure CycL. The increased post-compaction consolidation of the CycL FPM relative to the RR FPM could be due to this viscosity differential. All other major properties of the two FPMs (aggregate gradation, particle shape and geology, binder content, and volumetrics) are, however, essentially the same. The creep and strip slopes of both FPMs are parallel indicating that the rates of deformation due to non-moisture and moisture-induced damage are identical. However, the locations of the stripping

inflection points indicate that the RR FPM performed somewhat better than the CycL FPM insofar as the onset of moisture damage is concerned. Therefore, because of the slight short-term aged viscosity differential between the pure RR and the pure CycL, one can only conclude that the RR FPM performed "as well as" the CycL FPM in the Hamburg tests. Precision statements for this test method have not been adopted at this time.

#### Tensile Strength Ratio (TSR) Testing

The Tensile Strength Ratio (TSR) test, arguably the most widely used test for evaluating the stripping potential (moisture-susceptibility) of FPMs, was performed on RR and CycL mixes, again, for comparative purposes (*51*). The same process and FPM design used to produce the Hamburg SGC specimens was used for producing the TSR specimens. Six, 95 mm thick, 6 inch diameter SGC specimens per recycling agent were produced with a specified % air voids of  $7 \pm 0.5\%$  as the target. After determining the actual % air voids for each SGC specimen, the six are grouped into two groups of three specimens each such that the average % air voids of each group is approximately equal. One group of three specimens is designated as the unconditioned (dry) set and the other group of three specimens is designated as the unconditioned (dry) set and the other group of three specimens is designated as the conditioned (wet). Conditioning requires 1) the vacuum saturation of the specimens to a level of 70 - 80% saturation, 2) the storage of the partially – saturated specimens in a freezer for at least 16 hours, 3) the immediate submergence of the frozen specimens into a 60°C water bath for 24 hours, 4) the transfer of the specimen at room temperature bath for 2 hours, then 5) the determination of the indirect tensile strength of each specimen at room temperature. The dry set specimens are kept dry by placing them in watertight plastic bags, then they are submerged (still in the bag) in the room temperature bath for 2 hours prior to indirect tensile strength (ITS) determination. TSR is calculated as the ratio of the average wet ITS to the average dry ITS. TSR is usually expressed as a percentage, but not always, and is sometimes referred to as "retained strength." Table 12 shows the TSR test results.

TSR Specimen	TSR Specimen	RR				CycL			
Condition	Number	%Voids	%Voids(avg)	ITS (psi)	ITS (avg)	%Voids	%Voids(avg)	ITS (psi)	ITS (avg)
Dry	1	7.57		124		7.22		122	
Dry	2	7.81		123		7.29		122	
Dry	3	7.52	7.63	123	123	7.28	7.27	124	123
Wet	1	7.34		79		7.28		91	
Wet	2	8.04		77		7.41		90	
Wet	3	7.57	7.65	80	79	7.14	7.28	93	91
				TSR (%)	63.9			TSR (%)	74.3

TABLE 12: TSR Test Results

The test results indicate that the RR FPM is more prone to stripping than the CycL FPM; a difference in the TSRs of 10% seems pretty conclusive in this regard. However, one should be aware that the TSR test is highly variable. The most recent study on developing precision statements for the TSR test report a single-operator standard deviation (i.e. 1s) of 3.3% and the single-operator acceptable range of two results (i.e. d2s) as 9.3% (*52*). Although the precision limits are not officially adopted by AASHTO yet, the report verifies what has been widely recognized for some time now; the TSR test variability is problematic and a better method of evaluating the moisture-susceptibility of a FPM is greatly needed. The

Hamburg Wheel-Track Test is increasingly the preferred alternative to the TSR in assessing stripping potential (53, 54), but as discussed earlier, there are no AASHTO-adopted precision statements for the Hamburg test at this time.

Table 12 also shows that the RR TSR specimen average % air voids for both the wet and dry sets were slightly out of specification on the high side, and were about 0.35% higher than the average % air voids of the CycL TSR specimens. One could argue that this higher void content allowed for greater penetration of the water into the RR TSR wet specimens and resulted in greater moisture damage. However, an observation made during the RR TSR hot water bath conditioning procedure may better explain the lower TSR for the RR FPM. When the hot water bath lid was raised just prior to transferring the specimens to the room temperature bath, the odor of the RR was unmistakable; i.e. it is speculated that there was some dissolution of the RR by the 60°C water during the 24 hour submergence period. This observation was not totally unexpected. One must remember that the RR was extracted from the bulk rubber using acetone, but the rubber was extracted from the guayule shrub using a water-based process. The issue of potential water solubility of the RR under certain conditions was always a concern. It may be instructive that the 50°C water temperature during the 24 hour TSR conditioning the 24 hour TSR during the 7 hour long Hamburg test did not seem to negatively impact the results whereas the 60°C water temperature during the 24 hour TSR hour hour hour hour hour hour hour

#### Low-Temperature Flexural Creep Stiffness Testing

A relatively new, and as yet un-adopted, test was used to determine low-temperature flexural creep stiffness of the RR and CycL FPMs. Two documents were used as guidance in this exercise: a Utah DOT research report (55), and a NCHRP-IDEA report (56). The test is essentially the same used to determine the low critical temperature of binders with two basic exceptions: the test specimens are FPM beams instead of binder beams, and the creep load is larger. The bending beam rheometer (BBR) may have to be retrofitted with a larger capacity load cell in order to accommodate a larger creep load. The FPM beams are of the same dimensions as the binder beams (6.35 mm thick, 12.70 mm wide, and 127 m long) and, for this study, were cut from the center of the SGC volumetric specimens.

Eight FPM beams were cut from each of the eight SGC volumetric specimens resulting in 32 RR FPM beams and 32 CycL FPM beams. A masonry saw was used to cut a 20 mm thick disk from the center of each of the volumetric specimens, then a wet tile saw was used to reduce each 20 mm thick, six inch diameter disk to eight FPM beams of the proper dimensions. The cutting and subsequent determination of the actual dimensions of the FPM beams were done at the Missouri University of Science & Technology (S&T) while the BBR testing was performed at the MoDOT Central Laboratory. Regarding test temperatures, the Utah report draft protocol states, "For quality control purposes the single test temperature shall be 10 °C above the specified binder grade used in the mixture. For performance prediction at least 3 temperatures shall be used at 6 °C intervals. The test temperatures of 4 °C, 10 °C, and 16 °C above the specified binder grade used in the mixtures have been successfully used. Other temperatures can also be used depending on the project requirements." For this investigation, testing was performed at -12°C to meet the quality control criteria discussed above, and -18°C to be able to do a temperature-dependency analysis. Because the beam specimens can only be tested once, four of the beams cut from each of the eight volumetric specimens were tested at -12°C and the other four were tested at -18°C. Test results of interest for this comparative analysis were the stiffness and the m-value at 60 seconds of creep load which were obtained from the BBR software output. The results are shown graphically in Figures 14 and 15. Note that

"R" identifies the RR FPM and "C" identifies the CycL FPM. The numbers "1&2" mean that all valid data from the testing of both batches of each FPM are included in the trendline determination.



FIGURE 14: RR vs. CycL: Low-Temperature Flexural Creep Tests: Stiffness at 60 seconds

There are only 63 data points reflected in Figures 14 and 15. One beam test was discarded due to testing irregularities. The Utah DOT report recommends testing five beams per treatment combination and if the coefficient of variation (1s%) for those five repeated measurements is greater than 15%, one should check for an outlier, remove it if it exists, then recalculate 1s% for the four remaining beams. If 1s% is still greater than 15%, the entire test is invalid. If this precision recommendation had been applied to the data in this investigation, a majority portion would have been invalid. Personnel at the MoDOT Central Lab indicated that test data they have been collecting for their purposes also sometimes violates this 15% 1s% level. Therefore, this recommended precision statement was disregarded in this investigation. It is also important to note that the NCHRP-IDEA report concluded that differences in % air voids have no significant effect on creep stiffness of FPMs at low temperatures. No attempt was made during this exercise to verify this conclusion.

Figure 14 shows trends of increasing stiffness variability (at 60 seconds of creep load) as the temperature decreases, higher variability in the RR stiffness data relative to the CycL data as measured by  $R^2$ , and interestingly, a flatter stiffness – temperature trendline slope for the RR FPM. A check on the flatter RR FPM stiffness – temperature slope was performed by fitting trendlines individually to each set of FPM batch data. The result corroborated the trend shown in Figure 14.

The Utah report also has recommended maximum stiffness and minimum m-value limits. The report states, "The average stiffness of the mixture at 60-seconds and at a temperature of 10 °C above the performance grade of the binder shall not exceed 15,000 MPa; the average m-value at the same loading time and temperature shall not *exceed* 0.12." The word, "exceed" is bolded and italicized to make the point that this could probably be worded better to indicate that 0.12 is

a recommended "minimum" value. As indicated in Figure 14, both the RR and CycL FPMs meet the maximum stiffness recommendation. Additionally, even though the RR trendline is slightly higher than the CycL trendline at -12°C, a two-sided t-test (blocked across the different FPM batches) showed that the 60 second creep stiffness of the RR and CycL FPMs are not significantly different, based on a significance level of 5% (i.e. alpha=0.05).



FIGURE 15: RR vs. CycL: Low-Temperature Flexural Creep Tests: m-value at 60 seconds

Although stiffness is an important and specified parameter to consider when evaluating the low temperature cracking potential of a FPM, the m-value is usually the parameter that controls when checking both parameters against the specifications, for example, in binder testing. Remember that the stiffness (or modulus) is a measure of a beam's resistance to deflection (strain), whereas the m-value is a measure of the rate-of-change of stiffness with time; i.e. as the temperature decreases, the thermal shrinkage stresses are dissipated quicker as the m-value increases (48).

Figure 15 shows trends of increasing m-value variability (at 60 seconds of creep load) as the temperature decreases (the same trend as stiffness), and higher variability in the CycL m-value data relative to the RR data as measured by R<sup>2</sup> (opposite of the stiffness trend). The trendline slopes are approximately the same, but the relative position of the CycL trendline to the RR trendline indicates that the CycL FPM has superior stress relaxation properties than the RR FPM. Again, as with all of the other comparative analyses presented in this report, an analytical result such as this does not necessarily mean that the RR cannot be used successfully as a recycling agent. For example, as shown in Figure 15, even though the RR FPM m-value trendline at -12°C is slightly below the recommended minimum, this only means that the blended binder proportions of the mix design need adjustment to raise the m-value. A two-sided, blocked, t-test was also performed on the -12°C m-value data and showed that the RR FPM and CycL FPM 60 second m-values are significantly different at a significance level of 5%, but not at a significance level of 1%.

# PLANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION

The interest in the guayule plant as a renewable, domestic resource for natural rubber, resin, and biomass is growing (*57*, *58*, *59*). The Yulex Corporation has explicitly stated their desire to expand on the research in this study and continue investigations into using guayule-based materials in FPM applications (*18*). Their support will be requested in taking the next step to pursue a line of investigation into guayule plant oils as FPM binder modifiers. Preliminary work has already been undertaken at Missouri S&T. The RR was separated into a hexane-soluble (non-polar) "oil" phase and a methanol-soluble (polar) "polyphenol" phase using a liquid-liquid partitioning process (*60*). The de-solventized oil fraction still experienced significant mass loss upon short-term aging at 163°C, but it was not as great as that experienced by the RR. More significantly, the oil does not auto-oxidize (i.e. no formation of oxidation products with prolonged exposure to air), the probability is very low of it being water-soluble at any temperature or at any proportion within a FPM, and the viscosity is much lower than the RR.

The Missouri Department of Transportation agreed at the beginning of this project to support a practical field application of the concept. The original letter of support is on file and available upon request. Very recently, MoDOT representatives reiterated their interest in pursuing a pilot project in which the RR, or maybe another laboratory verified guayule-based material (e.g. the guayule oil), would be used in a state-approved FPM on a pavement project of their choosing.

At the earliest opportunity, a Type 2, NCHRP-IDEA project proposal to implement the findings in this study on a practical level will be developed and submitted.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Results of binder-blending mixture experiments were useful for comparative analyses and necessary for FPM design. The experiments required creating many different blends of the RAP/RAS binders with the acetone-extracted guayule rubber resin (RR) and the hexane-extract from the waste-stream guayule leaves and attached stems (LF), recreating those same blends but substituting the RR and LF with the appropriate petroleum-based binders, testing each blend, and then generating response surface models (RSMs) using those test results. Conclusions from the binder-blending experiments are as follows:

- Clay-gel chromatography testing verified that the pentane-soluble portion of the RR and LF pure blends met recycling agent specifications. Both contain polar and aromatic compounds, but less than 25% saturates by mass.
- The RR and LF pure blends are less temperature-susceptible than the petroleum-based binders; i.e. they exhibit a smaller change in viscosity for a given change in temperature, which is desirable.
- The RR and LF pure blends (not blended with petroleum-based binder; i.e. 100% guayule-based material) suffer significant mass loss upon short-term aging at 163°C. Additionally, the RR can auto-oxidize at room temperature if exposed to the air for prolonged periods of time, and may dissolve if exposed to hot water for prolonged periods of time.

- The absolute temperature spreads (T<sub>c</sub>H T<sub>c</sub>L) for the LF-RAP/RAS blends were, to a large degree, significantly different than the proportionally-identical PG52-28-RAP/RAS blends. Eight of the nine LF-RAP/RAS blends in the analysis had, on average, a 12.3°C smaller temperature spread than the proportionally-identical PG52-28-RAP/RAS blends. This finding turned the remaining investigative effort solely onto the RR.
- Statistical analyses showed that the RR-RAP/RAS blends did perform the same as proportionally-identical CycL-RAP/RAS blends in terms of high-temperature stiffness (as measured by the high critical temperature, T<sub>c</sub>H), but did not perform exactly the same in terms of cold-temperature cracking resistance (as measured by the low critical temperature, T<sub>c</sub>L). In terms more familiar to the FPM designer, the difference between the absolute temperature spread (T<sub>c</sub>H T<sub>c</sub>L) for the RR-RAP/RAS blends relative to proportionally-identical CycL-RAP/RAS blends was small, but statistically different. Of the ten blends in the analyses, seven of the CycL-RAP/RAS blends had the larger absolute temperature spread (an average of 1.1°C) while three of the RR-RAP/RAS blends had a slightly larger temperature spread (an average of 0.3°C). So, although the RR-RAP/RAS blends did not perform *exactly* as the CycL-RAP/RAS blends in terms of T<sub>c</sub>H and T<sub>c</sub>L, this does not mean the RR cannot be used as a recycling agent.
- A RR-RAP/RAS blend estimated by the RSM to meet PG64-22 binder specifications was produced and verification testing (except flash point) was performed. The flash point of the RR-RAP/RAS blend was assumed to be within specification based on successful flash point testing of the RR pure blend (i.e. not blended with other materials). The RR-RAP/RAS blend met all other PG64-22 specifications except mass change. The maximum allowable mass change for a PG binder is ±1.0% but the blend experienced a mass loss of 3.1%.

Using this binder blend, a RR-based FPM was designed, produced, and tested that 1) met the gradation specification for a Missouri Department of Transportation (MoDOT) moderate-quality FPM, but 2) did not quite meet all of the volumetric requirements. This FPM utilized 53% reclaimed aggregate (from the RAPs and RAS) and, therefore, 47% virgin aggregate. More importantly, and in relation to the project concept, only 0.23% of the total FPM mass (or 5.62% of total binder mass) was virgin, PG64-22 binder. The rest of the binder was RAP/RAS binder and RR. A CycL-based FPM using the same design proportions was also produced and tested for comparative analyses. Conclusions from the FPM testing are as follows:

- Standard Hamburg Wheel-Track testing, which specifies full submersion of the specimens in 50°C water during the approximately 7 hours of rut testing, was performed. The results indicated that the RR-based FPM performed as well as the CycL-based FPM in regard to rutting and stripping (moisture damage) resistance.
- Standard Tensile Strength Ratio (TSR) testing, which specifies a 24 hour full submersion of the specimens in 60°C water, was performed. The results of this moisture-susceptibility test, however, indicated that the RR-based FPM may be more prone to stripping than the CycL-based FPM.
- A (currently) non-standard, but promising test protocol for determining low-temperature, FPM flexural creep stiffness
  was performed on the RR- and CycL-based FPMs. At -12°C, statistical analyses showed that the creep stiffness of the
  RR-based FPM was not significantly different than the CycL-based FPM. However, the m-value of the RR-based FPM
  was statistically different (lower) than the CycL-based FPM m-value which indicates a somewhat higher coldtemperature cracking potential for the RR-based FPM relative to the CycL-based FPM.

Based on the test results, the RR produced in this study could, in a practical sense, be used as a recycling agent. FPMproduction and paving industry representatives have shown interest in the results of this study and the future viability of guayule-based materials. The Yulex® Corporation, the only U.S. company currently cultivating and processing the guayule plant for commercial purposes, recently indicated to the project researchers that a 10,000 ton/year rubber production facility is planned for the southwestern U.S. by 2014, with multiple facilities soon thereafter. Yulex also indicated that they are still in the economic modeling phase for guayule resins (one of the three basic products that can be obtained from the guayule shrub), and if resin were to be produced for high-volume (i.e. FPM) applications, procedures would be developed to extract the resin directly from the plant fiber and not from the rubber product (*18*). This would greatly increase the resin production as the plant resin yield is 2 - 3 tons/acre/year, and there are about 124 million acres of land in the U.S., mostly in the southwest, environmentally suitable for guayule agricultural practices. Therefore, resin production could reach 200 – 300 million tons/year in the U.S. alone.

The National Asphalt Pavement Association reported that about 3.2 million tons of reclaimed RAP and RAS binder were utilized in the U.S. in 2010, and the usage is projected to increase every year (61). If all 3.2 million tons of that reclaimed RAP/RAS binder had been softened with, say, 25% RR by weight of the blended binder, only 1.1 million tons of RR would have been required. So, even with a very large increase in the amount of RAP/RAS usage in the U.S. in the coming years, which is being aggressively promoted, the availability of sufficient quantities of resin seems quite possible. With availability deemed probable, price is the only other controlling factor. If the guayule producers (Yulex, and soon the tire companies, Bridgestone and Cooper (58, 59)) can hold the price of the resin engineered for FPM applications to something less than about \$0.70 per pound, they can compete with not only petroleum-based products similar to Cyclogen L (62), but also bio-based recycling agents currently in use in the paving industry (e.g. Hydrogreen® (63, 64)).

So, although the economic viability of guayule products for FPM applications is difficult to determine at this point, the potential availability of guayule in the U.S. as a feedstock is substantial. This project was a first step and it verified that the guayule shrub, a perennial industrial plant, holds great potential as a renewable, domestic source of FPM binder additives such as resins, oils, and polymers.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge those that have supported this project. Thanks go to:

- Dr. Inam Jawed and the members of the NCHRP-IDEA committee.
- The National University Transportation Center located on the Missouri University of Science & Technology campus.
- The Missouri Asphalt Pavement Association (MAPA).
- Members of the project expert panel:
  - Georgene Geary (Georgia DOT), Dr. Peter Wu (Georgia DOT), Dr. Katrina Cornish (Ohio State University, formerly with Yulex Corporation), Joe Schroer (Missouri DOT), David Yates and Dale Williams (MAPA).
- Dr. Francis Nakayama, Dr. Terry Coffelt, and Dr. Colleen McMahan of the USDA-ARS.
- Jim Mitchell, Ray McCoy, and many others from the Yulex Corporation.
- Dr. William Schloman of the University of Akron.
- John D'Angelo of D'Angelo Consulting.
- Shay Emmons, Phil Blankenship, and Mike Anderson of the Asphalt Institute.

- Dr. Rebecca McDaniel and Ayesha Shah of the North Central Superpave Center.
- Donna Hoeller, Matt Scott, Leonard Vader, Todd Bennett, Rob Massman, Leslie Wieberg, Julie Lamberson, and Tracy Adams, all of the Missouri Department of Transportation Central Laboratory.
- Matthew Limmer, Dr. Joel Burken, Dr. Mark Fitch, and Dr. Glenn Morrison, all of the Missouri S&T Environmental Engineering Department.
- Dr. Thomas Schuman, Dr. Terry Bone, and Jonathon Sidwell, all of the Missouri S&T Chemistry Department.
- Dr. V. Samaranayake of the Missouri S&T Mathematics and Statistics Department.
- Jim Brownridge of Tricor Refining.
- Bart Holmes of Conoco-Phillips.
- Gregory Vascik of Holly Corporation
- Many local contractors: Steve Jackson (N. B. West), Bruce Loesch (APAC), Jennifer Breuer (Superior-Bowen), Rich Pitts and John Davis (Rolla Asphalt).
- Mike Birke of the Southwest Research Institute.

# REFERENCES

- 1. F. L. Roberts, P. S. Kandhal, E. R. Brown, D. –Y. Lee, and T. W. Kennedy. *Hot mix asphalt materials, mixture design, and construction*, 2nd Ed., NAPA, Lanham, Md. 1996.
- 2. The Yulex Corporation website. URL is <u>http://www.yulex.com/</u> (last accessed July 3, 2012).
- R. McDaniel and R. M. Anderson. Recommended Use of Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement in the Superpave Mix Design Method: Technician's Manual. NCHRP Report 452, Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, National Academy Press, Washington, D.C. 2001.
- 4. D. E. Newcomb, E. R. Brown, J. A. Epps. *Designing HMA Mixtures with High RAP Content*. Quality Improvement Series 124. National Asphalt Pavement Association. Lanham, MD. 2007.
- 5. A. Copeland. *Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement in Asphalt Mixtures: State of the Practice*. Report No. FHWA-HRT-11-021. FHWA. U. S. Department of Transportation. 2011.
- 6. D. Krivit and Associates, developer. *Recycling Tear-Off Asphalt Shingles: Best Practices Guide*. Construction Materials Recycling Association (CMRA). 2007.
- R. C. Williams. *Performance of Recycled Asphalt Shingles (RAS) in Hot Mix Asphalt*. National Pooled Fund Study TPF-5(213), in progress. Sponsoring Agency: Missouri Department of Transportation. Contractor: Iowa State University. URL is <u>http://www.pooledfund.org/projectdetails.asp?id=441&status=4</u> (last accessed July 3, 2012).
- 8. SMART Pave System. URL is <u>http://www.smartpavesystem.com/</u> (last accessed July 3, 2012).
- 9. HyRAP, The 100% Recycled Asphalt Pavement! URL is <u>http://www.brooks1st.com/recycled.htm</u> Brooks Construction Co., Inc. (website last accessed July 3, 2012).
- 10. Astec Inc. URL is <u>http://www.astecinc.com/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=109&Itemid=180</u> (last accessed July 3, 2012).
- 11. M. Metwally and R. C. Williams. *Development of Non-Petroleum Based Binders for Use in Flexible Pavements*. Project Report TR-594. Iowa Highway Research Board. Ames, IA. 2010.
- 12. "Chip fat to be used in road surfaces!" An online news article from Aggregate Research Industries, July 14, 2009. URL is <u>http://www.aggregateresearch.com/article.aspx?ID=16741</u> (last accessed July 3, 2012).
- Végécol. URL <u>http://www.colas.com/en/innovations/products/products-list/fiche-produit-1101193.html&product=38</u> (last accessed July 3, 2012).
- 14. Floraphalte, Shell Bitumen. URL is <u>http://www.shell.com/home/content/bitumen/products/shell\_floraphalte/</u> (last accessed July 3, 2012).
- 15. Sangita, I. R. Arya, R. Chandra, and Sandeep. Development and Characterization of Asphalt Modifiers from Agrobased Resin. Paper in *Asphalt Science and Technology*, Editor A. M. Usmani. Marcel Dekker, New York, 1997. pp 349-368.

- 16. Bitu Tech RAP. URL is <u>http://www.engineeredadditives.com/our\_products.html</u> (last accessed July 3, 2012)
- 17. EcoPave. URL is <u>http://www.ecopave.com.au/bio\_bitumen\_asphalt\_concrete\_research\_ecopave\_australia\_002.htm</u> (last accessed July 3, 2012)
- J. Mitchell. Yulex Corporation Senior VP Technology and Chief Operating Officer. Personal Communication. December 17, 2012.
- American Society of Testing and Materials (ASTM). "Standard Test Method for Characteristic Groups in Rubber Extender and Processing Oils and Other Petroleum-Derived Oils by the Clay-Gel Absorption Chromatographic Method." ASTM D 2007-03 (2008), Philadelphia, PA. 2008.
- J. P. Wagner and W. W. Schloman, Jr. Chapter 11: Processing. in *Guayule, Natural Rubber*, Whitworth J. W., and E. E. Whitehead, eds. Office of Arid Lands Studies, College of Agriculture, The University of Arizona. United States Department of Agriculture. Washington, D. C. 1991. pp 261 286.
- 21. G. T. Maatooq, D. K. Stumpf, J. J. Hoffman, L. K. Hutter, B. N. Timmermann. Antifungal Eudesmanoids from Parthenium Argentatum x P. Tomentosa. Phytochemistry, Vol. 41, No. 2, 1995. pp 519 524.
- 22. E. L. Kay and R. Gutierrez. Extraction of Rubber and/or Resin from Rubber Containing Plants with a Monophase Solvent Mixture. United States Patent No. 4,684,715. 1987.
- 23. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Quantitative Extraction of Asphalt Binder from Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA). AASHTO T 164-08, Washington, D.C. 2008.
- 24. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Recovery of Asphalt Binder from Solution by Abson Method. AASHTO T 170-00 (2005), Washington, D.C. 2005.
- 25. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Quantitative Extraction and Recovery of Asphalt Binder from Asphalt Mixtures. AASHTO T 319-08, Washington, D.C. 2008.
- 26. American Society of Testing and Materials (ASTM). Standard Practice for Recovery of Asphalt from Solution Using the Rotary Evaporator. ASTM D 5404-03, Philadelphia, PA. 2003.
- J. P. Wagner and W. W. Schloman, Jr., "Chapter 11: Processing" in *Guayule, Natural Rubber*, Whitworth J. W., and E. E. Whitehead, eds. Office of Arid Lands Studies, College of Agriculture, The University of Arizona. United States Department of Agriculture. Washington, D. C. pp 261 – 286. 1991.
- 28. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Determining the Asphalt Binder Content of Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) by the Ignition Method. AASHTO T 308-10, Washington, D.C. 2010.
- 29. J. Schroer. Personal Communication. Field Materials Engineer. Missouri Department of Transportation. April, 2010.
- 30. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Sieve Analysis of Fine and Coarse Aggregates. AASHTO T 27-06, Washington, D.C. 2006.
- American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Materials Finer Than 75-µm (No. 200) Sieve in Mineral Aggregates by Washing. AASHTO T 11-05, Washington, D.C. 2005.
- 32. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Practice for Classifying Hot Mix Recycling Agents. AASHTO R 14-88 (2007), Washington, D.C. 2007.
- 33. R. E. Boyer. *Asphalt Rejuvenators "Fact, or Fable"*. Paper prepared for Transportation Systems 2000 Workshop in San Antonio, TX. Feb. 28 Mar. 3, 2000. Asphalt Institute.
- 34. J. C. Petersen. *A Review of the Fundamentals of Asphalt Oxidation*. Transportation Research Circular No. E-C140. Transportation Research Board. National Academies. Washington, D.C. October 2009.
- 35. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Effect of Heat and Air on a Moving Film of Asphalt Binder (Rolling Thin-Film Oven Test). AASHTO T 240-09, Washington, D.C. 2009.
- 36. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Specific Gravity of Semi-Solid Asphalt Materials. AASHTO T 228-09, Washington, D.C. 2009.
- American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Viscosity Determination of Asphalt Binder Using Rotational Viscometer. AASHTO T 316-06, Washington, D.C. 2006.
- 38. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Flash and Fire Points by Cleveland Open Cup. AASHTO T 48-06 (2010), Washington, D.C. 2010.
- 39. M. Limmer. *Personal Communication*. PhD Candidate. Missouri University of Science & Technology. Department of Civil, Architectural, and Environmental Engineering. 2011.
- 40. Asphalt Institute (AI). "Asphalt Institute Technical Publication: Laboratory Mixing and Compaction Temperatures." URL is <u>http://www.asphaltinstitute.org/dotAsset/de11ce66-bdc9-43fb-84f0-ff5706719e5f.pdf</u> (last accessed July 4, 2012).

- American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Determining the Rheological Properties of Asphalt Binder Using a Dynamic Shear Rheometer (DSR). AASHTO T 315-10, Washington, D.C. 2010.
- 42. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Practice for Grading or Verifying the Performance Grade (PG) of an Asphalt Binder. AASHTO R 29-08, Washington, D.C. 2008.
- American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Specification for Superpave Volumetric Mix Design. AASHTO M 323-07; Appendix, Washington, D.C. 2007.
- American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Determining the Flexural Creep Stiffness of Asphalt Binder Using the Bending Beam Rheometer (BBR). AASHTO T 313-10, Washington, D.C. 2010.
- 45. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Specification for Performance-Graded Asphalt Binder. AASHTO M 320-10, Washington, D.C. 2010.
- 46. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Multiple Stress Creep Recovery (MSCR) Test of Asphalt Binder Using a Dynamic Shear Rheometer (DSR). AASHTO TP 70-10, Washington, D.C. 2010.
- 47. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Specification for Performance-Graded Asphalt Binder Using Multiple Stress Creep Recovery (MSCR) Test. AASHTO MP 19-10, Washington, D.C. 2010.
- 48. Asphalt Institute, *Asphalt Binder Testing, Technician's Manual for Specification Testing of Asphalt Binders*, MS-25, Second Edition, Asphalt Institute. 2008.
- 49. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Hamburg Wheel-Track Testing of Compacted Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA). AASHTO T 324-11, Washington, D.C. 2011.
- 50. T. Aschenbrener. Evaluation of Hamburg Wheel-Tracking Device to Predict Moisture Damage in Hot Mix Asphalt. In *Transportation Research Record 1492*, TRB, National Research Council, Washington D.C., 1995. pp. 193–201.
- American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Method of Test for Resistance of Compacted Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) to Moisture-Induced Damage. AASHTO T 283-07 (2011), Washington, D.C. 2011.
- H. Azari. Precision Estimates of AASHTO T283: Resistance of Compacted Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) to Moisture-Induced Damage. NCHRP Web-Only Document 166; Contractor's Final Task Report for NCHRP Project 9-26A. TRB, National Research Council, Washington D.C., 2010.
- 53. Utah Department of Transportation, Materials Manual Part 8, Section 960.03, Superpave Volumetric Mix Design Guidelines. March 2012. pp. 2-3.
- 54. Texas Department of Transportation, Standard Specifications for Construction and Maintenance of Highways, Streets, and Bridges, Section 340.4.A.1, Construction-Mixture Design-Design Requirements-Table 6: Hamburg Wheel Test Requirements. 2004. p. 271.
- 55. P. Romero, C. H. Ho, K. VanFrank. Development of Methods to Control Cold Temperature and Fatigue Cracking for Asphalt Mixtures-Final Report. Report No. UT-10.08, Utah Department of Transportation, Research Division. 2011.
- M. Marasteanu, R. Velasquez, A. C. Falchetto, A. Zofka. Development of a Simple Test to Determine the Low Temperature Creep Compliance of Asphalt Mixtures. IDEA Program Final Report, NCHRP 133. TRB, National Research Council, Washington D.C., 2009.
- 57. Program of Excellence in Natural Rubber Alternatives (PENRA). Ohio Agricultural Research and Development Center, Ohio State University. URL is <u>http://www.oardc.osu.edu/penra/</u>. (last accessed July 30, 2012).
- "Bridgestone Announces Location Plans for Guayule Research Farm and Process Research Center." Bridgestone News Article, August 2, 2012. URL is <u>http://www.bridgestone.com/corporate/news/2012080201.html</u> (last accessed August 2, 2012).
- 59. "Yulex Corp and Cooper Tire Receive \$6.9 Million USDA Grant." Wall Street Journal *Market Watch* News Article, July 11, 2012. URL is <u>http://www.marketwatch.com/story/yulex-corp-and-cooper-tire-receive-69-million-usda-grant-2012-07-11</u> (last accessed July 30, 2012).
- 60. R. A. Buchanan, F. H. Otey, C. R. Russell, I. M. Cull. Whole-Plant Oils, Potential New Industrial Raw Materials. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, Volume 55, Issue 9.* 1978. pp 657-662.
- 61. Hansen, K. R., D. E. Newcomb. Asphalt Pavement Mix Production Survey on Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement, Reclaimed Asphalt Shingles, and Warm-mix Asphalt Usage: 2009-2010. Information Series 138. National Asphalt Pavement Association. Lanham, MD. 2011.
- 62. J. Brownridge. Tricor Refining, LLC, Marketing Manager. Personal Communication. June 24, 2012.
- 63. B. Loesch. APAC Missouri, Inc., Quality Control Manager. Personal Communication. July 23, 2012.
- 64. A. LaPlante. Pace Construction, Quality Control Manager. Personal Communication. July 23, 2012.